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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2011 @ Eurobank EFG

Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4  Greek Economy hiquidity Support Program 7
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6 Greek Banks' recapualisation 18
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36 Standard legal staff retrement indemnity obligations 44
9  Net banking fee and commission INcome 28
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47 Board of Directors 51
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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Income Statement

@ Eurobank EFG

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

Banking fee and commission income
Banking fee and commissian expense
Net banking fee and commission income

Net insurance incormne

Income from non banking services

Dividend income

Net trading income

Gains less losses from investment secunties
Other operating iIncome

Operating income

Operaling expensas

Profit from operations betore impairment on loans and advances and non

recurring vatuation losses

Imparrment losses on loans and advances
Impairment losses on Greek sovereign exposure
Impairment losses on goodwill asset

Other non recurning valuation losses

Share of results of associates

Profit/{loss) before tax

Income tax

Profit/{loss) for the year from continuing operations
Profit/{loss) for the year from discontinued operations

Net profit/(loss) for the year

Net prafit for the year atinbutable to non controlling interest

Net profit/{loss) for the year attributable to shareholders

Earnings/{losses) per share
-Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share

Earnings/(losses) per share from continuing operations
-Basic and diluted earnings/{losses) per share

Notes on pages 2 to 51 form an mtegral part of these consohdated financial statements

Page 3

"
1"

12

25

29
14
30

5,289 4,949
{3,250) (2,848)
2,039 2,103
449 497
(157) {134)
292 363
30 37
28 34
6 7
(51) 78
(19) 84
1 24
2,326 2,730
(1,198) (1,280)
1,128 1,450
(1,333) {1,273)
{6,012) -
(236) -
(501) -
U] (0
{6,955) 177
1,316 {60)
(5.639) 117
143 (33)
{5,496) 84
12 16
{5,508) 68
e
{10 13) {0 15)
{10 39) (0 08)
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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Consolidated Balance Sheet @ Eurobank EFG

Note;

ASSETS

Cash and balances with central banks 19 3,286 3,606
Loans and advances to banks 21 6,088 5,159
Financial instruments at fair value through proiit or loss 22 503 638
Derivaiive financial instruments 23 1,818 1,440
Loans and advances to customers 24 48,094 56,266
Investment securities 26 11,383 15,563
Property, plant and equipment 28 1,304 1,237
Intangible assets 29 465 734
Other assets 30 2,981 1,543
Total assets 76,822 87,188
LIABILITIES

Due to other banks 3 1,043 1,144
Secured borrowing from banks 32 34,888 25,480
Denvative financial instruments 23 3,013 2,681
Due to customers 33 32,459 44,435
Debt issued and other borrowed funds 34 2,671 5,389
Other habilites 35 1,873 1,965
Total habilities 75,947 81,094
EQUITY

QOrdinary share capnal 37 1,226 1,478
Share premium a7 1,439 1,440
Other reserves (3,763) 1,113
Preference shares 38 950 950
Preferred secuntias 39 745 791
Non controliing interest 278 322
Total 875 5,094
Total equity and llabilities 76,822 87,188

Notes on pages 9 lo 51 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Profit/{loss) for the year

Other comprehensive Income
Cash flow hedges

- net changes In farr value, nat of tax
- transfer to net profit, net of tax

Available tor sale securities

- net changes in fair value, net of tax

- impasrment losses on Greek sovereign debt transfer to
net profit, net of tax

- impairment losses on other investment secunties
transfer to net profit, net of tax

- transter to net profit, net of tax

-net changes in farr value, net of tax - associated
undertakings
- transfer to net profit, net of tax

Foreign currency translation

- net changes In farr value, net of tax
- transfer to net profit, net of {ax

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to

Sharehotders
- from continuing operations
- from discontinued operations

Non controlling mterest
- from continuing operatons

Notes on pages 9 to 51 form an integral part of these consohdated financial statements

Page 5
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{5,496) 84
(2) (51)
{15) 7 (2 {53)
(167) (191)
250 .
354 5
(13) 424 36 {150)
- (3)
- . 7 4
(41) (28}
79 38 0 (28)
445 227
{5,216} (128)
153 {5,063) {29) (157}
12 12 14 14
(5,051) 143



EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2011

Balance at 1 January 2010

Other comprehensive income for the year
Profit/{loss) for the year

Total comprahensive income for the year ended
31 December 2010

Acquisitions/changas in participating interests in
subsidiary and associated undertakings

Purchase/sale of preferred secunties

Preference shares’ and preferred secunties’
dividend paid

Dividends distributed by subsidianes attnbutable to non
controlling interest

Share-based payment

- Value of employee services

Purchase of treasury sharesfarising from acquisitions
Sale of treasury shares, net of tax and related expenses
Transfers between reserves

Balance at 31 December 2010

Balance at 1 January 2011
QOther comprehensive income for the year
Profit/(lass) for the year

Total comprehansive income for the year ended
31 December 2011

Acguisitions/changes (n participating interests in
subsidiary and associated undertakings

Share capital decrease by reducing the ordinary shares’
par value

Purchase/sale of preferred securties

Preference shares’ and preferred secunties’
dividend pad

Dividends distnbuted by subsidianes atinbutable to non
controlling interest

Share-based payment

- Value of employee services

Purchase of treasury shares

Sale of treasury shares, net of tax and related expenses
Transfers between reserves

Balance at 31 December 2011

- NG )
ShsrcRNS Occial JR ctained Rrefericdilicontoling
[premium] shares] interasy
1,480 1,441 678 699 850 791 275 6,314
- . (225) . - . 2 (227)
- - - 68 - - 16 84
- . (225) 68 - - 14 (143)
. - . (0) - - 48 a8
. - . . - 0 - 0
. , - {108) - - - (108)
- - . . . - (15) (15)
- - 4 - - - - 4
{3) 4] . - - - - {4)
i 0 - (3} - - - ]
- - 187 {187) - - - -
(2 {1) 191 (298) - 0 33 {77
1478 1,440 644 469 950 791 322 6,094
1,478 1,440 644 469 950 ™ 322 6,094
- - 445 - - - 0 445
- - - {5.508) - - 12 {5.496)
- - 445 (5,508) - - 12 {5,051)
73 2 - (28) - - (48) &)
{326) - 79 247 - - . -
- - . 21 - {48) . (25)
- - - (124) - - - (124)
. . - - - - {10) (10)
- - (1) . - - - (1}
(4) 1 - - - - : 3
5 0 - 1) - - - @
- 100 {109) - - - -
(252) (1) 187 o - {46} (56) (168)
1,226 1,439 1,276 (5,039) 950 745 278 875
Note 37 Note 37 Note 41 Note 38 Note 39

Notes on pages 2 o 51 form an integral part of these consohdated financial staterments
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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2011

Note
Cash flows from cperating activities
Interest receved and net trading receipts 4,008 3,744
Interest paid (2,403) (1,985)
Fees and commessions recaived 561 650
Fees and commsstons paid {151) {91)
Other Income received 0 4
Cash payments to employees and suppliers (1,042) {1,175)
Income taxes paid (60) {126)
Cash flows from continuing operating profits before changes wn operating assets and labilihes 913 1,021
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net {increase)/decrease in cash and balances with central banks {1,016) 157
Net {increase)/decrease in financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 145 B6
Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances to banks 1,106 {397)
Net (Increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers 1,697 {524)
Net {increase)/decrease in derivatve financial instruments {300) (121)
Net (increase)/decrease in other assets {232) {169)
Net increase/{decrease) 1n due to other banks and secured borrowing from banks 8,466 7,067
Net increasef{decrease) i due to customers (8,882) (3,130)
Net tncrease/{decrease) in other lrabilities {140) {158)
Net cash from/{used in) continuing operating activities 1,757 3,832
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of praperty, plant and equipment and intangible assets (218) {153)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 15 17
{Purchases)/sales and redemptions of investment securities 188 (1,320)
Acquisiion of subsidiary undertakings net of cash acquired and associated undertakings {1 {1
Disposal of foreign operations, net of cash and cash equivalents disposed 388 -
Dmdends from investment securities and associated undertakings 5 9
Net cash from/{used in} continulng investing activitles 377 (1,448)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds 16 389
Repayments of debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds (2,865) (2,697)
Purchase of preferred secunties (26) (84)
Proceeds from sale of preferred securities 2 94
Preference shares' and preferred securties’ dividend paid (145) {108)
Purchase of treasury shares (3) {2)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 5 {1
Net contributions by non controlling interest (10} {17)
Net cash trom/{used in) continuing tinancing activities (3,026) (2,436)
Etfect of axchange rate changes on cash and cash equvalents (35) (5)
Net increase/{decrease} in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations (927) (57)
Net cash flows from discontinued operating activities 36 {312}
Nat cash flows from discontinued investing activities (29) 286
Net cash flows from discontinued financing activites - (55}
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations 7 (81)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 20 4,044 4,182
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 3,124 4,044

Notes on pages 9 to 51 form an integral part of these consoldated financial statements
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Independent auditor's report

To the Shareholders of EFG Eurobank Ergaslias S A

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of EFG Eurcbank Ergasias (the “Bank") and its subsidianies {the “Group®) set out on pages 3 to 7 and 9 to
51 which compnse the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2011 and the consohdated income statement, statememt of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of sigrificant accounting policies and other explanatory information

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Managsment s responsible tor the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
as adopied by the European Umon, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

Auditor's Responsibility

Qur rasponsibility 15 to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit In accordance with Internattonal Standards en
Auditing Those standards require that we comply with ettwcal requirements and plan and perform the audit 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from matenal musstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence aboul the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements The procedures selected depend
on the auditor's jJudgment, ncluding the assessment of the nsks of matenal misstaternent of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error In making those
nisk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and far presentatton of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinon on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controf An audit
also includes evaluating the appropnateness of accounting pohcies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentatien of the financaal statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis for our audit opinion

Opinion
in our opimion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial positon of the Group as of 31 December 2011, and is
financial periormance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union

Emphasls of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the disclosures made in notes 2, 5 and 6 to the financial statements, which refer to the impact of the impairment
losses resulting from the Greek sovereign debt restructuring on the Group’s regulatory capital, the planned actions to restore the capital adequacy of the Group and
the existing uncertamties that could adversely affect the going concern assumption until the completion of the recapitalisation process

Reference on Other Legal Matters
{(a) Included in the Board of Directors' Report is the corporate governance statement that contains the information that 1s required by paragraph 3d of article
43a of Codified Law 2190/1820

{6)  We venfied the conformity and consistency of the information given in the Board of Dwrectors' report with the accompanying financial statements in
accordance with the requirements of articles 43a, 108 and 37 of Codified Law 2190/1920

Athens, 20 Apnl 2012
The Certfied Auditor-Accountant

Manos Psaltis
SOEL Reg No 38081

i
pwcC
PricewaterhouseCoopers
268 Kihssias Avenus

15 232 Halandn
SOELReg No 113
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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Notes to the Consuolidated Financial Statements @ Eurobank EFG

(a)

General information

EFG Eurcbank Ergasias S A (the “Bank”) and ifs subsidianes (the “Group”} are active in retad, corporate and private banking, asset management, insurance, treasury,
capital markets and other services The Bank s incorporated in Gresce and its shares are listed on the Athens Stock Exchange The Group operates manly in Greece and
in Central, Easterm and Southeastern Europe (New Europe)

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 Apnl 2012

Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting peficies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below

Basis af preparation

The consoldated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 1ssued by the IASB, as
adopted by the European Union, and in particular with those IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations 1ssued and effective or issued and early adopted as at the time of
prepanng these statements

Going concern considerations

The tnancial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis In making its assessment of the Group s ability to continue as a going cencern, the Board of
Directors has 1aken into consideration the impact of the following factors

Solvency nsk

The Group has incurred substantal imparrment losses as a result of the Hellenic Republic's debt restructuring (PSl+) Such losses had a respectve tmpact on the
accounting and regulatory capital of the Group as of 31 December 2011, which has fallen below the minimum capital requirements as datermined by the Bank of Greece,
as further explainad In notes 5 and 6 of the financial statements and page 1 of the Directers' Report

Bank of Greece is currently in the pracess of assessing the capital needs of the Group in order to be able to reach the tevel of Core Tier | capital of 9% at 30 September
2012 and 10% at 30 June 2013 This assessment will take mto account, inter alia, the PSI mpairment losses, the results of Blackrock s diagnostic review and the Group’s
business plan which also include certain capital strengthening actions

HFSF (Hellenic Financial Stability Fund) already commutted for a capital support of € 4 2 bn In the event that capital needs, as eventually determined by BoG, are higher,
any remaining capital shortfall following the private investor contribution, would need to be covered by the second tranche of the recapitalisation facility which 15 conditional
on the next EG/ECB/IMF review report on the program implementation by the Grreek government

Liquidity sk

The ability of the Greek banks to gan access 1o the international capital and maney markets and the reduction of deposits due to heightened sovereign nsk and
deteroration of the Greek economy lad to an increased reliance of the Group to Eurasystem financing facilibes These conditons pose a significant ongaing liquidity
challenge for the Group and the Greek Banking system in general The Group expects that the ECB and Bank of Greece faciites will continue to be available, untl the
normalization of market conditons

Qther economig uncerainties

The continued datenoration of the Greek economy throughout 2011 has adversely affected the Group's operations and presents significant risks and challenges for the
years ahead Currently, there are a number of matenal economic, political and market nsks and uncertainties that impact the Greek banking system The main nsks stem
from the adverse macroeconemic enviranment, the developments on the eurozone soveresgn debt cnsis and the success, or otherwise, of the significant fiscal adjustment
efforts and their impact on the Greek economy The progress made to date could be compromised by external shocks from the globai economy as well as implemeantation
risks, reform fatigue and pa'itical instability n Greece The restoration of confidence after the successful implementation of the PSl+ agreement, the attraction of new
Investments and the revival of economic growth remain the key challenges of the Greek economy

Contnuation of the recession could adversely affect the region and could lead to lawer profitability, detenoration of asset quality and further reduction of deposits In
addition, (ncreased funding cost remains a significant nsk, as 1t 1s dependent on both the level of savereign spreads as well as on foreign exchange rate nsk, due to the
unstable nature of some currencies

Notwithstanding the conditions and uncenainties mentioned above, the Directors, having considered the mitgating factors set out below, have a reascnable expectation
that the recapitalisation of the Group will be promptly and successfully completed and hence are satisfied that the financial statements of the Group can be prepared on a
going concern basis

(a) Bank of Greece (BoG) recommendation of 18 Apnl 2012 tor the Group's accession to the provisions of Law 3864/2010 as amended (Estabhishment of the Hellenic
Financial Stability Fund-HFSF and Recapitalisation of Greek financtal insttutions),

{b} the HFSF's commitment of 20 April 2012, following the relevant application submitted by the Group and the confirmation received by the BoG about the viability and
credibility of the Group's business plan, that 1t will provide capital as deseribed in (a) above, In order to ensure that the Graup 1 sutliciently capitalized to the current
m:nimum level of 8% (Total Capital Adequacy Ratio},

(¢} the avalability of addit.enal recapitalisation funds from the official secter that can support any capital needs on top of the amounts already committad by HFSF,

(d) the existence of the comprehensive financial support program of the EC/EGB/IMF as descnbed n the Directors’ report (including the € 50 bn recapitalisation taciny),
aiming to correct Greece's competitiveness gap and restore growth, employment and public debt sustanability and secure the banking systern stability,

(8) the Greek authonties commitment to support the banking system and create a viable and well capitalised pnvate banking sector, and

() the Group's continued access to Eurosystem funding (ECB and ELA hquidity faciliies) over the foreseeable future
The policies set out below have been congistently applied to the years 2011 and 2010 Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes
In presentation In the current year
(a) Amended and new standards and mterpretations effective in 2011

-1AS 24 Amendment Related Party Disclosures

- 1AS 32, Amendment - Classification of Rights Issues

- IFRIC 14, Amendment - Prepayments of a Minmum Funding Requirement

- IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

- Amendments to vanous Standards that form part of [ASB's 2010 Annual Improvement Project
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EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements @ Eurobank EFG

2

(a)

(b

Principal accounting policles (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

- IAS 1, Amendment - Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IAS 12, Amendment - Deferred tax Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective 1 January 2012, not yet endorsed by EU)

- I1AS 19, Amendment - Employea Benefts {effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

- |AS 27, Amendment - Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IAS 28, Amendment - Investrments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IAS 32, Amendment - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilties (effective 1 January 2014, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IFRS 7, Amendment - Disclosures, Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)
- IFRS 7, Amandment -Disclasures, Transters of Financia! Assets (effective 1 January 2012)

- IFRS 9, Finangia! Instruments {affective 1 January 2015, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Amendment - Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures (effective 1 January 2015, not yet endorsed by EU)
- IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (effective 1 January 2013, not yet endorsed by EU)

- IFRS 12 Dnisclosure of Interests in Other Entities {effective 1 January 2013, not yet endarsed by EU)

- IFRS 13, Farr Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013, not yat endorsed by EU)

IFRS 9 15 part of IASB's projact to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments which has not been finalsed yet and as a result, it 1s not practicable to quantify its )/mpact The
application of the other above mentioned standards and interpretations 1s not expected to have a matenal impact an the Group's financial statements in the penod of the
init:al application

The consolidated financia! statements are prepared under the histoncal cost goanvention as modified by the revaluation of avalable-for-sale financal assets and of inancial
asgels and financial habilties {Including denvative instruments) at fair vatue-through profit-or-loss

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with I[FRS requires the use of esumates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilties and
disclosure of contingent habilities at the date of the financial stataments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting period Although these
estimates are based on managemant's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ulimataly may differ from those estmates

The Group’s presentation currency 1s the Euro (€) beng the tunctional currency of the parent Company Except as indicated, financial information presented in Euro has
besn rounded to the nearest miffion

Consolidation
(1) Subsidiaries

Subsidiary undertakings are entities over which the Group, directly or indirectly, has the power to exercise conirol over their inancial and operating pelicies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting nghis The existence and effect of potential voting nghts that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls anather entity Subsidianes are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are
no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases Total comprehensive income Is attnbuted to the owners of the parent and to the non controlling interests even if
this results in the non-gentraling interests having a deficit balance

The purchase method of accounting 1s used to account for the acquisiion of subsidianes by the Group The consideration transferred for an acquisiion 1s measured at the
far value of the assets given, equity instruments 1ssued or exchanged and habilities undertaken at the date of acquisition, including the far value of assets or hahilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement Acquisition related cosis are expernsed as incurred Idenhifiable assets acquired and habiibes and contingent
liabiities assumed in a business combination are measured inibally at thewr fair values at the acquisition date irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interast Any
previously held interest in the acquiree 15 remeasured to farr value at the acquisit:on date with any gain or loss recognised in the income statement The Group recognises
on an acquistion-by-acquisition basis any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets

Tha excess of the consideraton transferred, the amount of any non-conirolling interest in the acquiree and the acquisiion-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identfiable net assets of the subswiary acquired 1s recorded as goodwill ! this is less than the far value of the net assets of the
acquiree, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement Financial assets or financial labilities resulting from contingent consideration arrangements are
measured at far value, with changes in farr value included in the income statemant

Intercompany transactions, balances and intragroup gains on transactions between Group companies are aliminated, intragroup losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred

Commutments 1o purchase non controlling interests through dervative financial instruments with the non-controling interests, as part of a business combination are
accounted for as a financial llability, with no non-controlling interest recogrised for reporting purposes Tha financial hability 1s measured at faw value, using valuation
techniques based on best estmatss available to management Any difference between the fair value of the financial hability upon initial recogniion and the nominal non-
controlling interest's share of net assets 1s recognised as part of goodwill Subsequent revisions to the valuation of the denvatives are recogrused in the income statement,
excapt for business combinations with an acquisition date up to 31 December 2009, where such changas adjust the carrying amount of goodwill

The Group sponsors the formation of special purpose entities, which may or may not be direclly owned subsidanes for the purpose of asset securtisation (accounting
pelicy (x} below) The enuties may acquire assets diractly from the Bank These companies are bankruptcy-remote entites and are consohdated in the Group's Financial
Statements when the substance of the relationship batween the Group and the entity indicates that the entity 1s controlled by the Group

Where necessary, accountng policies of subsidianes have been changed 1o ensure conststency with the policies of the Group
A listing of the Bank's subsidiaries 15 set out 1n rote 27
(i) Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result 1n a loss of control are recorded as equity transactions and any difference between the
consideration and the share of the new net assets acquired 1s recorded directly in equity Gains or losses ansing from disposals of ownership interest that do not resultin a
loss of control by the Group are also recarded directly in equity For disposals of ownership interests that rasult in a loss of control, the Group recogrises gamns and lusses
in the Income statement When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the equity i1s remeasured to its fair value, with any changes in the carrying amount
recognised in the iIncome statemaent

(i} Assoclates

Investments in associated undertakings are accounted for by the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial statements These are undertakings over which
the Group exercises significant influence but which are not cantrolled
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{b)

{c)

{d}

Principal accounting policies (continued)

Consolidation {continued)
{ih) Assoclates (continued)

Equity accounting nvolves recognising in the income statement the Group's share of the associate's profit or loss for the year The Group's interest in the associate I1s
carned on the balance sheet at an amount that reflects its share of the net assets of the associate and any goodwll dentfied on acquisibon net of any accumulated
impairment losses If the Group's share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds Its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues recognising Us share of further
losses, unless 1t has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate When the Group obtains ¢r ¢eases to have signiicant inflyence, any previously held
or retained wnterast in the entity 15 remeasured 1o its far value, with any change in the carrying amount recognised 1n the income statement Where necessary the
accounting polieies used by the assoc:ates have been changed to ensure censistency with the polcies of the Group

A listing of the Group s associated undertakings, which are accountad for using the equity method, 1s set out in note 30

(iv) Joint ventures

The Group's Interest in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the equity method of accounting n the consolidated financial statements and are treated as
associates Where necessary the accounting policies used by the joint ventures have been changed to ensure consistency with the palicies of the Group

A listing of the Group's joint venturas s set out in note 30

Foreign currencies

(i) Translation of forelgn subsidiaries

In the consolidated financial statements, the assets and habiities of foreign subsidianes are translated into the Group s presentation currency using the exchange rate
ruling at the Balance Sheet date Income and expenses are translated at the averaga rates of exchange for the reporting period

Exchange differences ansing from the retranslation of the net investment in foreign subsidianies including exchange differences of monetary items receivable or payable to
a foreign operation for which setilement 1s nerther planned nor likely to occur, that form part of the net investment in foreign subsidianes, are taken 1o "Other comprehensive
income™ Such exchange differences are released to tha income statement on dispesal of the foreign operation or for monetary items that form part of the net investment in
the foreign operation, an repayment or when settlement 1s expected 0 occur

(i) Transacilons in foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are Iranslated into the functional eurrency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions  Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions are recognised 1n the income statement

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated n foreign currencies have been translated inta the functional currency ai the market rates of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date and exchange differences are accounted for in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualfying net
investment hedge

Non-monetary assets and labiities have been translated mio the functional gurrency at the exchange rates ruling at imtial recognition, except for non monetary items
denominated in foreign cumrencies that are stated at fair value which have been translated using the rate of exchange at the date the fair value was determined The
exchange diferences relating to these items are treated as part of the change n farr value and they are recognised in the Income statement or recorded directly In equity
depending on the classification of the non-monetary item

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Denvative financial Instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, forward currency agreements and interest rate options (both wntten and purchased), currency and
Interest rate swaps, and ather dervative financial instruments, are iniially recognised in the balance sheet at far value on the date on which a derivative contract 1s entered
into and subsequently are re-maasured at therr farr value Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, including recent market tfransactions, discounted cash flow
models and options pricing models, as appropniate All dervatives are carned as assets when farr value is pasitive and as habilities when tarr valua is negative

“The best avidence of the fair value of a denvative at inihal recognition 1s the transaction price {1 e , the farr value of the consideration given or received} unless the far valus
of that Instrument 1s evidenced by comparison with other observable currant market transactons in the same instrument (1 e , without modification or repackaging) or based
on a valuation technique whose vanables include only data from observable markets

Certain dervatives, embedded in other financial Instruments, are treated as separate denvatives when their nsks and charactenstics are not closely related to thase of the
host contract and the host contract is not carned at fair value through profit or loss These embedded denvatives are measured at far value with changes in farr value
recognised (n the Income statement

The method of recognising the resulting far value gan or loss depends on whether the denvative is designated and qualifies as a hedging nstrument, and if so, the nature
of the tem being hedged The Group designates certain denvatives as (a) hedges of the exposure to changes in farr value of recognised assets or habilities or
unrecogrused firm commitments (fair value hedge), (b) hedgas of the exposure to vanabilty in cash flows of recognised assets or habilities or highly probable ferecasted
transactions (cash flow hedge), or, (c) hedges of the exposure to vanability in the value of a net investment In a foreign operation associated with the translation of the
nvestment's carrying amount in the Group's functional currency Hedge accounting 15 used for derivatives designated In this way, provided certain critena are met

The Group documents, at the inception of the transactan, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged vtlems, as well as its nsk management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the
dervatives that are used in hedging iransactions are highly effective 1n offsetting changes in faw values or cash flows of hedged items

(i) Fair value hedge

Changes in the tarr value of denvatives that are designated and quality as farr value hedges are recorded in the incame statement, together with any changes in the fair
value of the hedged asset or hability that are atinbutable to the hedged nsk

if the hedge no lenger meets the cntena for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged tem for which the effective interest method s used 15
amortised to profit or loss over the period to matunty The adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the efiective interest methed 1s not used remains
untit the disposal of the equity secunty

(i) Cash flow hedge

Tha efiective portien of changes in the fair value of denvatwes that are designated and qualfy as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive incame The
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 1s recognised immediately 1n the income statement

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled 10 the income statement in the penods in which the hedged item will affect prohit or loss (for example, when the farecast sala
that 15 hedged takes place)

When a hedging instrumant expires or i1s sold, or when a hedge ne longer meets the cntena for hedge accounting any cumulative gan or loss existing in equity al that tme
remains 1n equity and 15 recognised when the torecast transaction Is ulimately recognised in the incorne statement

When a forecast transaction 1s na longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reparted 1n equity 1s immediately transferred 1o the income statement
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(h}

Principal accounting policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
(1) Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign cperations, including hedges of monetary items that torm part of the net investments in the foreign operations, are accounted for
similarly to cash flow hedges Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument refating to the etlective portion of the hedgs 1s recognised in equity, the gain or loss relating to the
ineffactive partion 1s recogrised Immediately in the income staternent Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the iIncome statement when the foreign
operation 1s disposed of as part of the gasn or loss on the disposal

{lv) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain denvative nstruments do not qualty for hedge accounting Changes n the farr value of any denvative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the mcome statement

The farr values of denvative instruments held tor trading and hedging purposes ara disclosed in notg 23

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and labiites are offset and the net amount 1s presented In the ba'ance sheet when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to oftset the recogrised amounts
and thare is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the habity simultaneously

income statement
(i} Interest Income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income statement for all interest beanng instruments on an accruals basis, using the effective interest rate method
The eifective interest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts estmated future cash payments or receipls through the expected life of the financial nstrument or, when
appropnate, a shorter penod 1o the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial habiity When calculating the effectve interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does net consider future credit losses The calculation includes all fees and pounts paid or received
batween parties to the coniract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts

Once a financial asset or a group of similar inancial assets has bean written down as a result ot an impairmant foss, interest income 1s recognised using the rate of interest
usad to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measunng the impairment loss

(H} Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are generally recogmised on an accruals basis Commissions and fees relating 1o foreign exchange transactions, imports-exports, remittances, bank
charges and brokerage actvilies are recognised on the completion of the underlying transaction

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated imparment losses Cost includes expend:ture that is directly attnbutable
to the acquisttion of the assat Subsequent expenditure 15 recognised in the asset’s carrying amount only when it 1s probable that future economic benelits will flow to the
Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably All other reparr and maintenance costs are recognised In (ncome statement as expenses as occurred

Depreciation 1s calculated using the straight-ine method to write down the cost of property, plant and equipment, to their residual values over their estmated useful life as
follows

- Land No depreciation

- Freehold buldings 40-50 years

- Leagehold improvements over the lease term or the useful life of the asset d shorter

- Computer hardware and software 4-1Q years

- Other tumiture and equipment 4-20 years

- Motor vehicles & 7 years

Praperty, plant and equipment are penod:cally reviewed for impairment, with any impairment charge being recognised immediately in the income statement
Property held for renta! yields and/or capital appreciation that 1s not occupied by the companies of the Group 1s classified as investment property investment property ts
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

Intangible assets

(1} Goodwill

For business combinations completed from 1 January 2010, goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the far value of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest and the far value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
undertaking at the date of acquisiion Goodwill on acquisitions of subs:dianes 1S included 1 imangble assets’ Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is mcluded in
investments 1n assaciates’

Goodwill 1s measured at cost Jess aceumulated impaiment losses For the purpose of impairment tesbing, goodwll 1s allocated to cash generating units or groups of cash
generating unds The allocation 18 made to those cash generaling units or groups of cash generating uniis that are expected to benefit from the business combination in
which goodwll arose The carrying amount of goodwall 15 re-assessed annually as well as whenever a tngger event has been observed for imparment Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

() Computer sofiware

Costs assooated with the mantanance of existing computer software programs are expensed as incured Development costs associated with the preduction of identifiable
and unique products controlled by the Graup, that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets and are
amortised using the straight-ine method over 4 years, except for core systems whose useful hfe may extend up to 10 years

(i) Other Intangible assets

Gther intangible assets are assets that are separable or anse from contractual or ather legal nghts and are amortised over therr esumated useful lives These include
intangible assets acquired i business combinations
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1)

Principal accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets 1n the following 1AS 39 categones financial assets at far value-through-profit-or-loss, leans and recevables, hefd-to-matunty
investments, and availabla-tor sale financral assets Management determenes the classiication of its financial instruments at iniial recogrition

() Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categones financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss upon iital recognition A financial asset 1
classiied as held for trading il acquired prinaipally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term or if it 1s part of a portfolio of identfied financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there 1s evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking Denvatives are also categonsed as held for trading unless
they are designated and eftective as hedging instruments

The Group designates cerlain inancial assets upon il recognition as at far value-through-profit-or-loss when any of the following apply

a) it eliminates or significantly reduces measurernant or recognition Inconsistencies, or
b} inancial assets share the same risks with financial rabikbes and those nsks are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis , or
¢} structured products comaining embedded denvatves that could significantly modity the cash flows of the host contract

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and racevablas are non-darvative financial assets with fixed or detarminable payments that are not quoted i an active market, other than those that the Group
upon mital recegrition designates as at fair-value through-profit-or-loss and those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as available for-sate Secunties
classified in this category are presanted In Investment Secunties under Debt Secunties Lending portialio

(Fii} Held-to-maturily

Hald te-matunty investments are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities thai the Group s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to matunty If the Group were 1o sell other than an msignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and
reclassified as avalable-for-sale

(iv) Available-for-sale

Avalable for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefirite pered of time, which may be sold in response to needs for hquidity or changes in interest
rates, exchange rates or equity prices

Accounting treatment and calculation

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recogrised on irade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset Loans onginated by the Group
are racognised when cash i1s advansed to the borrowers Financial assets are mitally recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carmed at far
value-thraugh-profit-or-foss Financial assets are derecognised when the nghts to receive cash flows from the financial asssts have expired or where the Group has
transferred substantiatly all nsks and rewards of ownership

Avallable for-sale financial assets and financial assets at far value through-profit-or-loss are subsequently carned at far vatue Loans and receivables and held to matunty
Investments are carned at amortised cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses ansing from changes in the fair value of the ‘inancial assets at fair-value
thraugh profit-or-loss® category are included in the income statement n the penod in which they anse Gans and losses ansing from changes in the far value of avalable-
for-sale knancial assets are recognised drrectly 1n equity, until the financtal asset is derecogrised or impaired at which tme the cumulative gain or lass previously
racogrised In equity 1s recogmised in profit or loss However, interest calculated using the effactive interest rate methad 15 recognised in the incomsa statement

Dwidends on equity Insirumenis are recognised in the income statement when the entity’s nght 1o receive payment 1s established

The farr values of quoted investments in active markels are based on current bid prices I the market for a financial asset 1s not active (and tor unlisted secunties), the
Group establishes lar value by using valuaton techriques These include the use of recent arm s length transactiens, reference to the current fair value of anather
instrument that 1s substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, aption pricing moedels and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at sach balance sheet date whether there I1s objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 1s imparred A financial asset or a
group of inancial assets 1s impaired and impairment losses are wncurred 1f there 1s objective evidence of imparment as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the imiial recognibion of the asset (a loss event ) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can ba reliably estmated Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets s smpaired includes abservable data that comes to tha attenticn of the
Group about the fallowing foss events

a) sgeificant financial difficulty of the 1ssuer or obliger,

b) abreach of cantract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or pnncipal payments,

¢) the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial ditficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwse
consider,

d) it bacoming probable that the borrower will enter bankrupicy or other inancial recrganisation,

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulies, or

f) observable data indicating that there 15 a measurable decrease in the estmated future cash flows from a group of hinangial assets since the inival recogmition of
those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be entified with the indmidual financial assets in the group, including
- adverse changes in the payment status of borowers in the group, or
- nationat of local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group

(i) Assets carried at amortised cos!

The Group lirst assesses whether objsclive evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are ndwidually significant, and indevidually or callectively for
financial assets that are not individuatly sigrsticant If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impament exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether sigrilicart or net, it iIncludes the asset In a group of financial assets with similar credt nsk charactenstics and collectively assesses them for imparment Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment foss 1s or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment

If there 15 objective evidence that an imparment loss on loans and recevables or held-to-maturity investments carmed at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of
the loss 1s measured as the difference between the asset's camying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows {excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the tinancial asset's original effective interest rate The carrying amount of the asset 1s reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss 15 recogrised in the income statement If a loan or held to matunty investment has a vanable interest rate, the discount rate for measunng any
impairment loss 1s the current effective interest rate determined under the contract As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price

The calculation of the present valug of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from fareclasure less costs
for obtaining and selling the coliateral, whether or not foreclosure 1s probable
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(m)

Principal accounting policies {continued)

Impalrment of financial assets (continued)

(1) Assets carried al amortised cosl (continued)

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar cradit nsk charactenstcs {1 e , on the basis of the Group s
grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors) Those characteristics are relevant to
the estimation of future cash flows tor groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the
assets being evaluated

Future cash flows in a group of inancial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estmated on the basis of the coniractual cash flows of the assets in the
group and histoncal loss expenence for assets with credit nsk charactensties similar to those In the group Histoncal loss expernience 1s adiusted on tha basis of current
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the penod on which the historical loss expenence 1$ based and to remove the eftects of
conditions n the historical period that do not exist currently

Estimates of changes n future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionatly consistent with changes in related observable data from panod to panod
{for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes n the probability of losses 1n the group and their
magnitude) The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss
estimates and actual loss experience

When a Yoan Is uncollectible, it 1s written off against the related provision for loan impairment Such loans are wntten off after all the necessary procedures have been
compigted and the amount of the loss has been determined Subsequent recovenes of amounts previously wntten off decrease the amount of the provision for loan
impairmerit in the income statement

If, In a subsequent period, the amount of the iImpairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occumng after the impaiment was
resogrised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit ratng}, the previously recognised impairment loss 1s reversed by adjustng the allowance account The amount
of tha reversal 1s recognused in the iIncame statement

(i) Available-for-sale assels

In case of equity and debt investments classified as avallable-for sale, a signiicant or prolonged decline in the farr vatua of the secunty below its cost 1s considared In
determining whether the assets are impaired If any such evidence exsts for available-for-sale inancial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current far value, less any imparrment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — 15 removed trom equity and
recogrused 1 the income atatement Imparrment losses recognised in the income statemant an equity investments are not reversed through the iIncome statement If, :n a
subsequent period, the fair value af a debt instrument classified as available for-sale increases and the increase can be objactively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the iImparment loss (s reversed through the income statement

Sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending

(!} Sale and repurchase agreements

Secunties sold subject to repurchase agreements { repos ) continue to be recorded In the Group’s Balance Sheet while the counterparty habiity 1s included in amounts due
10 other banks or due to customers, as appropriate Securities purchased under agreements 1o resell ("reverse repos”} are recorded as loans and advances to other banks
or customers as appropriate The difference between the sale and repurchase pnce is treated as interest and accrued over the penod of the repo agreemants using the
effacuve interest method

{1} Securities lending

Sacunties lent to counterparties are retained In the financial statements Secunties berrowed are not recogmised n the financial statements, unless these are sold to third
parties, In which case the purchase and sale are recorded with the gamn or loss nctuded (n trading income The obligation to return them 1s recorded at farr value as a
trading habiity

Financlal liabilities

The Group classifies s financial habilities n the following categanes financial habiliies measured at amorised cost and financial liabilities at far-value-through prafit-or
loss Financial habilities at fair-value-through-profit or-loss have two sub categories financial lrabiliies held for trading and Linancia) habilihes designated at far-value
through-profit or-loss upon inikal recognition

The Group designates financial habilities at far-value-through-protit-or-loss when any of tha following apply

a} it ehminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognilian inconsigtencies, or

b} financial iabilities share the same nsks with inancial assets and those nsks are managed and evaluated on a far value basis, or
¢} structured products contaning embedded derivatives that could significantly modity the cash flows of the host contract

Financial lrabilites are derecogrused when the obligation specified in the relevant contract 1s discharged, cancelled or expires

Leases

{I) Accounting for leases as lessee

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equpment where the Group has substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases Finance leases are
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the farr value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments Each lease payment i1s
allocated batween the hability and finance charges so as 10 achieve a constant rate on tha finance batance cutstanding The interest element of the finance cost 1$ charged
10 the Income statement over the lease perod so as 1o produce a constant penodic rate of interest on the ramaining balance of the liability for each penod The property,
plant and equipment acquired under finance leases 1s depreciated ovar the shorier of the useful Iife of the asset or the lease term

Cperating leases
Leases where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Jessor are classified as operating leases Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives recaved from the lesser) are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the penod of the lease

{ii} Accounting for leases as lessor

Finance leases

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments 1s recognised as a receivable The ditference batween the gross receivable
and the present value of the racewable 1s recognised as unearned finance mcome Lease income s recognised over the tarm of tha lease using the net vestment
method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of retumn

QOperating leases

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plart and equipment in the balance sheet They are depreciated over thetr expected useiul lives on a
basis consistent with simitar awned property, plant and equipment Rental income {net of any incentrves given to lessees) Is recognised on a straight-ine basis over the
lease term
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Principal accounting policies {continued)

Income tax

{1} Current income tax

Ingome tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law in each jursdiction 1s recogrised as an expense 1n the period 1r which profits anse The tax effects of income
tax fosses available for carry forward are recogrised as an asset when 1t 1s probable that future taxable profits will be avallable against which these losses can be utitsed

(1) Deferred income tax

Deferred iIncame tax is provided sn full, using the labiity method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and habilities and their carrying amounts
n the consolidated financial statements Deferred tax assets and habilities are measured at the tax rates that are expscted to apply to the penod when the asset 1s reaiised
or the hability 1s settled, based on tax rates {and tax laws} that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date The principal temporary differences
anse from mpairment of financial assets depreciation of fixed assets, pension and other retirement benefit obligations, and revaluation of certan financial assets and
liabiities, including denvative instruments

Deferred tax assets are recognised where 1t 1S probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utiised Deferred tax
related to changes in farr values of available-for-sale investments and cash flow hedges which are recognised te other comprehensive income I also recognised to other
comprehensive Income, and 1s subsequently recogrised in the income statement togsther with the deferred gain or loss

Employee benefits

(i) Pension obligations

The Group provides a number of defined contribution pension plans where annual contributions are invested and allocated to specific asset calegones Eligible employees
are entitled ta the overall performance of the investment The Graup's contributions are recognised as emplayee benefit expense in the year in which they are paid

(i) Standard legal staff retirement Indemnity obligations (SLSRI)

In accordance with the lecal labour legislaton, the Group provides for staff retirament indemmnity obligation for employees which are entilled to & lump sum payment based
on the number of years of service and the level of remuneration at the date of retrement, If they remawn In the employment of the Group until normal retirement age
Pravision has been made for the actuanal value of the lump sum payable on retirament (SLSRI) using the projected unit credit method Under this method the cost of
providing retirement indemmities 18 charged to the Income statement so as to spread the cost over the pened of service of tha employees, in accerdance with the actuanal
valuations which are performed every year The SLSRI abligation 1s calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash outtlows using interest rates of government
securities which have terms to matunty approximating the terms of the related liability Actuanal gains and losses that anse in calculating the Group's obligation in respect
of the SLSRI obligations are charged directly in the profit and loss for the year

In additian, the Group has enhanced the above pravision by taking into consideration potential separations before normal retirement based on the terms of previous
voluniary separation schemes The Group recogrises separation indemmity whon it 1s demonstrably committed to separations either accerding to detaled formal plars
which are announced and cannot be withdrawn ar as a result of mutually agreed termination terms Benefis payable in more than 12 months from the balance sheet date
are discaounted to present valua

(i) Performance-based cash payments

The Group's Management awards high performing employees with bonuses in cash, from tme to time, on a discretionary basis Cash payments requiring only
Managament approval are recognised as employee benefit expenses on an accrual basis Cash payments requirng General Meeting approval as distnbution of profits to
staff are recognised as employee benefit expense in the accounting penod that they are approved by the Group’s shareholders

(v} Performance-based share-based paymenis

The Group's Management awards employaes with bonuses n the form of shares and share options on a discretionary basis Non-performance related shares vest in the
penad granted Share based payments that are contingent upon the achievement of a performance and service condition, vest only if both conditions are sabished

The fair value of the shares granted (s recognised as an employes benefit expanse with a correspanding increase in share capital (par value) and share premium

The farr value of the options granted I1s recognised as an employee benefit expanse with a corresponding increase in a non-distributable reserve over the vesting period
The proceeds received net of any directly attnbutable transaction costs are cradited 1o share capital (par value) and share premum when the options are exercised, with a
transfer of the non distributable reserve to share pramium

Insurance activities

(i) Revenue recognition

For casualty, praperty and short duration life imsurance contracis, premsums are recognised as revenue (eamed premiums) proporionally over the period of coverage The
portion of premium received on n-force contracts that relates to unexpired nisks at the balance sheet dale i1s reported as the unearned premwm labiity Premiums are
shown betore deductien of commiss:on or rensurance premium ceded

For long term insurance contracts, premiums are recognised as revenua when they become payable by the contract holdar Premiums are shown belore deduction of
commission A lability for contractual benefits that are expected to be incurred in the future 1s recorded when the insurance contract 1s in force and the premums are
recognised

¢i) Insurance liabllities
Insurance reserves are classified as follows

Mathematical reserves

Mathematical reserves represent insurance provisions for long-term hie nsurance contracts They are calculated in accordance with actuanal techruques, after taking into
account the technical assumptions imposed by supervisory authorities (mortality tables and the technical interest rate), in effect at the contract's inception, as the difference
between the actuaral present valug of the contract's habilines and the present value of the pram:ums to be received

Unearned premwum and unexpired nisk reserves

Unearned premums’ reserves represent the part of the prermium written for short term fife, and property and casualty insurance contracts, that relates to the period beyond
the reporting date untl the termination of the penod covered by the respective premium of the contract An additonal prowvision for unexpired nisks is made when it is
anticipated that uneamed premiums will be tnsufficient to meet future losses and foss adjustment expenses of business in force at the reparting date

Outstanding clarms' reserves

Qutstanding claims’ reserves are set for liabilities on clams incurred and reported but not ully settled by the end of the reporting perod The speciied labilites are
examined on a case by-case basis by professional valuers, based on exising informatien (loss adjustors' reparts, medical reports, court decisions etc) The Group
recegrises additional prowisions regarding claims ncurred but not reported (IBNR) by the end of the reporing perod The calculation of these provisions 1s based on
statistical methodologies
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Principal accounting policies (continued)

Insurance activities (continued)
(#li} Liability adequacy

At each reporting date, the Group performs a lability adequacy test (LAT'} to assess whether its recognised Insurance llabilities are adequate by using current estimates of
future cash flows including refated handiing cosis If that assessment shows that the carmng amount of its insurance habilities 1s tnadequate in the light of the eshmated
future cash flows, the entire deficiency 1S recognised in the income statement

{iv) Reinsurance

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group 1s compensated for losses on one or more contracts 1ssued by the Group and that meet the
classilication requirements for insurance contracts are classitied as remnsurance contracts held

The benelits to which the Group is entitled under s reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance assets These assets consist of short-tarm balances due
from reinsurers, as well as fonger term recevables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits ansing under the related reinsured insurance contracts
Amourts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the
terms of each reinsurance contract Reinsurance habilities are pnmanly premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense when due

The Group assesses its rensurance assels for Impairment at each reporting date If there Is cbjective evidence that the reinsurance asset 1s impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount ol the reinsurance asset to 1ts recoverable amount and recogmises that impairment loss n the income statement
Repossessed properties

Land and buildings repossessed through an auchon pracess to recover smpared loans are, except where otherwise stated, included in "Other Assets™ Assets acquired
from an auction process are held temperarily for lquidation and are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Any gains or losses on lquidation are included in
"Other operating incoms”

Related party transactions

Related parlies nclude associates, fellow subsidianes, directors and key management persannel, ther close families, companies owned or controlled by them and
companies whose financial and operating policies they can influence Transactions of similar nature are disclosed on an aggregate basis All banking transactions entered
into with related parties are in the normal course of business and on an arm's longth basis

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 1$ probable that an outflow of ressurces embodying
sconomic benefits will b required to settla the obligation, and reliable estimates ot the amount of the obligation can be made

Segment reporting

A segment 18 a component of the Group that engages in business activiies from which It may earn revenue and incur expenses within a particular econamic anvirenment
Operaling segmenits are identfied on the basis of intemal reports about components of the entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order
to allocate resources 10 the segment and to assess its performance The chief operating decision maker has been dentilied as the Strategic Planning Group (SPG) that
makes strategic decisions The Group is organised into five man business segments Segment revenus, segment expenses and segment performance include transfers
between business segments Such transiers are accounted for at competitve prices in ine with charges to unaffilated customers for simiar services

Share capital
Ordinary shares and preference shares are classited as equity
Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax

Dividend distnbution on shares 1s recogrised as a deduction (1 the Group's equity when approved by the Group's shareholders Intenm dwidends are recognised as a
deduction in the Group’s equity when approved by the Board of Directors

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid including any drectly atinbutable mcremental costs
{net of Income taxes), 1s deducted from shareholders' equity until the sharas are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued,
any consideratian receved Is included in sharehalders’ equity

Preterred securities

Preferred secunties 1ssued by the Group are classified as equity when there 1s no contraciual obligation to delver to the holder cash or another financial asset

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new preferred secunties are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of 1ax

Dividend distnbution on prafarred securities 15 recognised as a deduction in the Group's equity on the date it 15 due

Where prefarred secunties, 1ssued by the Group, are repurchased, the censideration paid including any directly attnbutable incremental costs {net of income laxes}, 1s
deducted from shareholders' equity Where such secuntes are subsequently called or sold, any consideration recerved 1s included 1n shareholders equity

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the 1ssuer to makae specified payments to reimburse the holder for a lass it incurs because a specilied deblor fails to
make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt nstrument Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other bodies on
behall of customers {0 secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities

Financial guarantees are inmally recognised n the Binanc:al statements &t farr value on the date the guarantee was given Subsequent to 1bial recognition, the Group's
habilitas under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the iutial measurement, less amartisation calculated to recognise in the income statement the fae income
earned on a straight line basis over the lie of the guarantes and the best estrmate of the expenditure required to settle any financizl abhgation ansing at the balance sheet
date These estmates are determined based on expenence of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgment of Management Any
ingreass in the liability relating to guarantees s taken to the income statement

Securitisations

The Group secuntses financial assets, which generally results in the sala of the assets 10 special purpose enliies (accounting policy b (1)}, which, In turn 1ssue debt
secuntes to investors and in some (nstances to Group companies These secuntisations are all consohdated by the Group as it 1s exposed fo the majonty of nsks and
rewards of ownership in the special purpose entities

Cash and cash equlvalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other shori-term highly hguid investments wath onginal matuntes of three months or less,
and bank drafts
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(h)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting pelicies, the Group s Management makes vanous Judgments, esumates and assumptions that affect the reperted
amounts of assats and habilittes recognised In the financtal statements within the next financial year Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
histoncal expenence and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

Impairment logses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its loan pertiolos to assess imparrment continuously in determiming whether an impairment loss should be racorded in the income statement, the
Group makes judgments as o whether there 1s any observable data indicating there 15 measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portiolio of loans
befare the decrease can be 1dentified with an individual loan in that portdelio This evidence may include observable data indicatng that there has been an adverse change
in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local econormic canditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group Maragement uses estimates
based on historical joss axperience for assets with credit nisk charactenstics and abjective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolia when scheduling its future
cash flows The methodology and assumptions used for esttmating both the amount and tming of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any difierences
betwesn loss estmates and actual loss experience

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group assesses annually whether there 18 an indication of goodwill impasrment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2 h (i) The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units are determined based on value \n use calculatons These calculations are based on proftability and cash flow projactions which require
the use of estmates such as growth rates for revenues and expenses and profit margins

Fair value of financial instrumenis

The farr value of financtal instruments that are not quoted in an active market are determined by using valuaton techniques In these cases, the farr values are estimated
from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments ar using models Where market observable inputs are not avalable, they are estimated based on
appropnats assumptions Where valuaton tachniques are used to determine farr values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualiied personnel indspendent of
the personnel that created them All models are certified before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that oulputs reflect actual data and comparative market
pnces To the extent practicable, models use only observable data, however areas such as credit nisk {both own and counterparty), valatdites and correlations require
management to make estimates Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reponed fair value of financial instruments

Impairment of avallable-for-sale equity investments

The Group determines that available for-sale equity investments are impared when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the farr valus of the equity
Investments below therr cost In determirung what 1s sigmificant or prolonged the Group's management exercises judgment In making this judgment, the Group evaluates
among ather factors, the normal volatlity in share price In addition, impairment may be appropnate when there (s objective evidence of deterioration in the financial health
of the investes, industry and sector performance, changes In technology, and operational and financing cash flows

Securitisations and consolfidalion of special purpose entifies

The Group sponsars the formation of special purpase entities (SPEs) for various purposes ncluding asset secuntisaton The Group may or may not directly own the SPEs
and consolidates those SPEs that it controls In determining whether the Group controls an SPE, it makes judgments about s exposure to the risks and rewards related to
the SPE and about its ability to maka operational decisions for the SPE in question

Income taxes

The Group 15 subject 1o iIncome taxes i various jurisdictions and estimates are required In determining the provision for Income taxes There are many transachons and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertain during the ardinary course of business The Group recognizes habilibes for anticipated tax audit 1Issues
based on estmates of whether additonal taxes will be due Where the final tax outcome of these maners 1s different from the amounts that were imihally recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the penod in which such determination 1s made

Retirement benefit obligations

The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determned on an actuanal basis using a number of assumptions Any
changes In these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pensien obligations

The assumplions used in determining the net cost {iIncome) for pensions (nclude the discount rate, future salary increases and inflation rate The Group determines the
appropnate discount rate at the end of each year In determining the approprate discount rate the Group uses interest ratas of government secunties which have terms to
matunty approximating the terms of the related liability Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions

Share-based paymenis

The Group grants shares and sharg aptions to the employees as a common featura of employee remuneration {FRS 2 requires recognition of an expensé for those shares
and share options at the fair valua on the grant date (equity settled plans) Far shares granted 1o employees, the fair value 15 measured directly at the market pnce of the
entity's shares, adjusted 1o take into account the terms and conditions upan which the shares were granted For share options grantad to emplayees, in many cases market
prices are not avallable because the options granted are subjact te terms and cenditions that do not apply to traded options If this 1s the case, the Group estimates the fair
value of the equity Instrumants granted using a valuation technique, which 1s consistent with generally accepted valuaton methodologies

Greek Economy Llquidity Support Program

The Bank participatas in the Greek Government's plan to support liquidity in the Greek economy under Law 3723/2008, as amended by Laws 3844/2010, 3845/2010,
3872/2010 and 3965/2011 and extended by Ministenal dectsion 57863/B 2535/29 12 2011, as follows

{a) First stream - preference shares
345,500,000 non-voting preference shares with nominal value of € 950 million were subscnbed to by the Hellenic Republic on 21 May 2009 (note 38)

{b) Second stream - bonds guaranteed by the Hellenic Republic
Dunng the year, the Bank 1ssued an additienal amount of bonds of € 5,726 rmillien As at 31 December 2011, the government guaranteed bonds, totalling to € 17,776
milhon, were fully retained by the Bank and s subsidianses {note 34)

P iance Sh ven
In February 2012, government guaranteed bonds of € 3,844 million, matured Upen their matunty, the Bank proceeded with the 1ssuance of government guarantesd
bonds of equivalent value (note 34)

(¢) Third stream lending of Greek Government bonds

Liquichty obtained under this stream must be used to fund mortgages and loans to small and medium-size enterpnses As at 31 Decernber 2011, the special Greek
Government bonds borrowed by the Bank matured and have not been renewed
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4 Greek Economy Liguidity Support Program {continued)

Under Law 3723/2008, as amended by Law 3965/2011, for the penod the Bank participates in the program through the preference shares or the guaranteed bonds
{streams (a) and (b) above), the Government 15 entitled to appaint its representative to the Board of Directors, veto strategic decisions, decisions which alter substantially
tha legal or financial position of the Bank and require the General Assembly’s approval and dvidend distnibutions a3 well as restnct management remuneration

In addiion, under Law 3756/2009, as amended by Laws 3844/2010, 3965/2011 and 4063/2012, banks participating in the Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program are
not allowed to declare a cash dividend 1o their ordinary shareholders for 2008 to date, and are not allowed to acquire treasury shares under article 16 of the Company Law

5 Credit exposure to Greek sovereign debt
Greek Government bonds exchanged under PSl+ in 2012

As at 30 June 2011, the Group recogrized an impairment loss of € 830 million, before tax, on Greek Government Bonds (GGBs) matunng prar to 31 December 2020,
which were eligible tor exchange under the voluntary debt exchange pregramme for the Prvate Sector (Private Sector Involvement-PS), as agreed at the Eurozone
Summit of the 21st July 2011 The axchange was onginally scheduled for October 2011

The July PSI plan was not implemented and EU authonties begun formulating a new package to support Greece and enhance its debt sustamabilty At the European
Summit an 26 October 2011, the Eurozone Heads of State agreed to set up a new reform programme for the Greek economy, supporting growth and including a voluntary
bond exchange with a nominal discount of 50% on notional Greek debt held by private investers

Efforts to resolve the Euro Area sovereign dabt cnsis entered a new phase on 21 February 2012, when Euro Area finance nunisters agreed on the second bad out
pragramme for Greece, Including financial assistance from the official sectar and a voluntary debt exchange agreed with the Private Sector

The key terms and conditions of the final voluniary debt exchange package (PSl+) are as follows

(a) For every bond selected to paricipate in PSk+, 53 5% of the face amount will be forgiven, 31 5% of the face amount wilt be exchanged with new bonds of equal face
amount 1ssued by Greece and the remaining 15% will be exchanged with short term secunties 1ssued by the European Financial Stability Facility {(EFSF)
(6} The coupon on the new Greek Govemment Bonds (nGGBs) will be 2% from 2012 to 2015, nsing to 3% from 2015 to 2020, 3 85% for 2021 and 4 3% until 2042

{c} Accrued interest on the exchanged bonds will be settied through the issue of shont term EFSF secunties

(d) The nGGBs will be 1ssued (n 20 separate tranches with staggered bullet matunties commencing in 2023 and ending in 2042 to replicate an amortisation of 5% per
annum cn the aggregate amount of the nGGBs

{e) The nGGBs will rank pan passu with the EFSF € 30 bn loan to Greece contnbuting to the PSi+ exercise

() nGGBs will be subject to English Law

(g} Each new bond will be accompanied by a detachable GDP linked security of the same notional amount as the face amount of the new bond

The second support pragramme aims & ensuring debt sustainability and restoring competitiveness, allowing Greece to achieve stict fiscal consolidation targets and the
implementation of pnvatization plans and structural reforms Furthermare, the respective coninbutions from the pnvate and official sector should ensure that Greece s
public debt ratia 1s brought on a downward path reaching 120 5% of GDP by 2020

The invitation for tender was launched on 24 February 2012 and the bonds invited to paricipate in PSl+ had an aggregate outstanding face amoun? of approxamately

€ 206 bn Following the invitation deadline of & March 2012 and the subsequent activation of collective action clauses for the bonds governed by Greek law, bonds of
approximately € 197 bn were exchanged on 12 March 2012, while the setlement for holders of Foresgn law bonds and bonds guaranteed by Hellenic Republic toak place n
Apnl

Under Law 404672012, the tax losses ansmng from the bond exchange under the PSl+ program will be tax deductible in equal instalments over the Iife of the new bonds
raceved

The exchange programme of Greek Government bends and other eligible secunties (PSl+) provides evidence of a concession granted to the borrowar (the Greek State) by
the lender relating to the borrower's financial difficulty that the lender would not otherwise consider Therefore, following the Bank’s participation in the programme, the
Group recognised an impairment loss of € 5,779 milion before tax, as of 31 December 2011, for GGBs and other secunties of face value € 7,336 milhon exchanged in
2012 under PS+, of which € 830 milllon was recogntzed as of 30 June 2011

The impairment loss of € 5,156 milion for the Debt Secunties Lending portfolio and Loans to Greek Slate entites and € 608 million for the Held to-matunty portiolio, has
been calculated by discounting the nGGBS' estimated future cash flows at the securities’ enginal effective interest rate and includes losses of € 292 millian before tax,
previously recognised in other comprehensive income, for securities reclassified from the Avallable for-sale porticlio The impairment less on the Available ter sale porttoho
of € 15 millon 18 based on the 31 December 2011 market values

As at 31 December 2011, the cammying value after imparrment of debt securities exchanged in 2012 under the PSl+ amounted to € 1,945 million (Debt Securities Lending
and Loans to Greek State entities € 1,679 millon, Held to matunty € 257 milion and Available for-sale € 9 milign) Trading posittons of € 13 million are camed at 31
December 2011 market values

Other Greek sovereign exposure

The Graup has also assessad tor impairment all other exposure to Greek government and quasi-governmental bedies, such as loans to Local and Regional Authonties and
loans guaranteed by the Greek State As a result, an impairment loss of € 233 millien before tax as at 31 December 2011 was recogrised

As at 31 December 2011, the total carmyng value of other Greek Sovereign Exposure after impairment amounted to € 4,155 million This includes Treasury Bills of

€ 2,204 mdhon, matunng within six months, and GGBs of € 803 million matunng in 2014 and issued for the Greek State's subscnption to the Preference Shares issued
under Law 3723/2008 “Greek Economy Liguidity Support Program™ These Treasury Bills and GGBs were excluded from PSI+ and are expected to be repaid i tull under
IMF's Debt Sustainability Assessment

6 Greek Banks' recapitalisation

Recapitalisation framework and process

Guven the seventy of the impact of the Greek Bond exchange programme (PSl+), on 21 February 2012 the Euro Area finance ministers allocated a total of € 50 bn of the
second suppor programme for Greece speciically for the recapitafisation of the Greek Banking system These funds will be directed 1o the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund
{HFSF) whose mandate has been extended and enhanced accordingly The first tranche of these funds was remitted to Greece in Apnl 2012, while the rest, according 1o
IMF "Request for extended arrangement under the extended fund facility*, will ba made available in Juna 2012

The Bank of Greece (BoG) I1s cumently assessing the wiability of each Greek Bank and estimating its capital needs, talung into consideration both the PSl+ impact and the
difficult economic environment of the next three years, far which adequate buffers must be set aside BoG's assessment of capital needs 1s based in a minimum EBA
Equity Tier | ratio of 9% by September 2012, and 10% by June 2013, with alsa a mmimum 7% required under a 3 year adverse stress scenario as at December 2014
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Greek Banks' recapitalisation {continued}

Recapitalisation framework and process (continued)

The BoG 1s assessing the capital needs of each bank based on, inter alia, the impact of its participation in the PSl+ programmae, the results from the BlackRock loan
diagnostic exercise, the viability of its business plan, and a detatled imetable of mitgatng actions to restore solvency BoGs and the European Central Bank s intial
assessment 1$ that the € 50 bn 15 adequate to cover the capital needs, as above, of the viable Greek Banks and the resolution of the non viable ones BoG 1s expected to
commuricate its assessment to each bank by 30 Apnl 2012

In the meantime, the impact of Greek banks participation in the Greek Government Bonds exchange programme {PSl+) 1$ such thal they may require a tamparary financial
suppaort from the Mellenic Financial Stability Fund (HFSF see below), subject to the requirements provided by law

The HFSF was esiablished (n 2010, in order to maintain the stabilty of the Greek banking systermn through ensunng that adequate resources are avalable to support vtable
banks' recapitalization needs and participating to the capital increases tor any non- subscrbed pan

Banks considered viable will be given the opportunity to apply for and receive EBA Core Tier |- eligible capital from the HFSF under & certain process Capital may take
the form of ordinary shares, contingent convertible bonds or ardinary shares with restricted voting nghts Ordinary shares with restricted voting nghts will anty be available if
private investars centribute at least 10% of the capital raising The Law 4051/2012, which stipulatas the above, underlines that among s man objectives are to incentivise
the participation of private investors and to maintain the business autonomy of the banks

The Government will ensure that Graek banks have business autonomy both de jure and de facto The voting nghts of the HFSF for the commeon shares it holds, subject to
the 10% threshold mentiored above, will be stnctly himited to specific strategic decisions on the condition that the bank adheres to s restructuring plan

Private sharsholders will be given incentives to purchase HFSF-held shares The HFSF will decide on the disposal process of the ordinary shares and the contingant
convertible bands the latest within 5 years fram its participation in the capital increase

A Cabinet Council Act agreed In consultation with the Troika (European Commussion, ECB and IMF) shall prowide the technical detals of the banks’ recapitalization
framawork, embodying thess prnnciples, by end of May 2012

Non viable Banks will be resolved by the HFSF, in an orderly manner and at the lowest cost to the State, in a way that ensures financial stability

To ensure that the system remains well-capitalized, by the second quarter of 2013, the Bank of Greece will canduct a follow-up stress test exercise, based on end of 2012
market values and using a methodology determined in consultation with the Troka (EC, ECB, IMF}

Eurobank EFG's capital requirementa

Excluding the impairment losses an Greek sovereign exposure {PSl+} the Group's regulatory capital stands at € 52 bn (end 2010 € 5 6 bn), 1ts Capital Adequacy Ratio at
12% (2010 11 7%} and EBA Care Tier | Rauo at 9 8% (2010 90%) Proforma with the lliabihty management exercise successiully completed in February 2012, and the
dispasal of the Turkish operations which was agreed in Apnl 2012 and 15 expected to be completed m the autumn, the EBA Equity Tier | ratio would increase to 11 0%
(note 7 3), equivalent to € 880 million additional capital above the September 2012 threshold of 9%

The regulatory impact of PSl+, including the non recognition of deferred tax, totals € § 8 bn, therefore the Group has obtained HFSF's commutment for a € 4 2 bn capital
support, which would bnng the Group's Total Capital Adequacy Ratio above 8%

The regulatory impact of the 3 year adverse siress scenano 1s currently being estimated in cooperation with the Bank of Greece and HFSF, both on a short term and a
medium term basis

The Group continues tha imptementation of its medium term internal capital generating plan, which includes imitiatives which generate or release EBA equity capital and/or
raduce Risk Waightad Assets In addiion the Graup 1s prepanng for the capital raising that must be complated by end of September 2012

The Directors have concluded that the Group 1s viable and have a reasonable expectation that the recapitalization of the Group will be promplly and successiully
completed

Financial risk management

Use of financial Instruments

By their nature the Group's actwties are pnncipally related to the use of financial nstruments including denvatives The Group accepts deposits from customers, at both
fixed and floating rates, and for vanous periods and seeks to earn above average interest marging by investing these funds in high quality assets The Group seeks o
increase these margins by consolidating shori-term funds and lending for longer penods at ligher rates, while maintaming sufficient iquidity to meet all clawms that might
fall due

The Group also seeks to raise s interest margins by obtaining above average margins, net of provisions, through lending to commercial and retall borrowers within a range
of credit standing Such expesures include both on batance shest loans and advances and off balance sheet guaraniees and other commitments such as letters of credit

The Group also trades in financial instruments where 1t takes positions in traded and aver the counter instruments including derivatives, 1o take advantage of short-term
market movements in the equity and bond markets and In currency and interest rates The Eurobank's Risk Commuttee places trading hmits on the level of exposure that
can be taken in relation to overmight and intra-day market positions as well as hmits in longer durations With the exception of specific hedging arrangements foreign
axchange and interast rate exposures associated with these denvatives are normally coneluded fo hedge outstanding positions, thereby controlling the vanability in the net
cash amounts required to offset market pasitions

Financial risk factors

The Group's actvities expose It to a vanety of inancial nsks credit nsk, market nsk (including currency nsk and interest rate risk) and iquidity nsk The Group’s overall nsk
managemeni policies focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to mimimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financral performancs, financal
positon and cash flows

Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit nsk, which is the nisk that a countarparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due Impairmant provisions are recognised for
josses that have been incurred at the balance shest date Signdficant changes in the econamy, or in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a
concentration in the Group's portfohio, could result in losses that are ditferant from those provided for at the balance sheet date Management therefore carefully manages
Its exposure to credit risk

The Group structures the levels of credit nsk 1t undartakes by placing lmuts on the amount of nsk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to
geographical and industry segments Such nsks are monitored on a revolving basis and are subject to an annual or more frequent review The lavel of credit nsk by
preduct, Industry sector and by country are reviewed quarterly by Eurobank's Risk Committaa The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers 1s further
resincted by sub limits covenng on and off-balance shest exposures, and daily delivery nsk imits in relation to trading rtems such as forward foreign exchangs contracts
Actual exposures aganst hmits are monitored on a daly basis
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Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk {continued)

The Group 1s active in the corporate and retad lending markets Credit nsk 15 well spread over a diversity of personal and commeroial customers Exposure to credit nsk s
managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interast and capital repayment obligations and by changing the lending imits
where appropnate The Group reduces Its credit nsk associated with loans and advances 1o customars by entering into collateralised arrangements The types of collateral
that the Group abtains are cash deposits and other cash equivalents, real estate, recavables, secunties, vessels and bank guarantees

(a} Derivatives

The Group maintains control limits on net open denvative positions 1 & , the difference between purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and term At any one time, the
amount subject to credit nsk 1s imited to the current far value of instruments that are favourable 16 the Group (1 ¢ , denvatives with a positive tair value) which in relation to
denvatives 1s only a amall proportion of the contract notional amount used to express the volumae of instruments outstanding The credit nsk exposure 1s managed as part of
the overall lending iimits with customers together with potential exposures from market movements Collateral or other security 18 not usually obtaned for credit nsk
exposuras on these instruments, except where the Group requires margin depasits from counterparties Further details of the Group's denvative instruments are provided in
note 23

(b) Master netting arrangements

The Group further restncts its exposure to credit losses by entenng intc master neting arrangements with counterparties with which 4 undertakes a significant volume of
transactions Masier nettng arrangements do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and habiities, as transactions are usually sefiled on a gross basis
Howaever, the credit risk 1s reduced by a master netting agreement to the extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and
settled on a net basis The Group's overall expasure to cradit nsk on dervative Instruments subject to master netting arrangements can change substantially within a short
penad, as It is affected by each transaction subject o the arrangement

(¢} Credit related commitments

The prmary purpose of credi related commiiments 1s 10 ensure that funds are available to a customer as required Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same
credit nsk as loans since they represent irevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a cusiomer cannot meet iis obligations to third parties
Documentary and commercial latters of credit, which are wntten undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authonsing a third party to draw drafts on the Group up
to a stipulated amount under spacific terms and conditions, are secured by the underlying shipment of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a loan
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extand cradit (in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit for which the Group usually receives
a commitment fee Such commitmants are wrravocable gver the life of the facility or revocable only in response io a matenal adverse effect

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held

o
Eimillion; JEATITIO T

Cradit nsk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows

Leans and advances to banks 6,083 5,159
Financtal instruments at fair value through profit or loss
- Debt securities 260 287
Cernvative financial instruments 1,818 1,440
Loans and advances to customers
- Wholesale lending 22,485 23557
- Mortgage lending 14,029 17,119
- Consumer lending 7,048 B,926
- Small business lending 7,929 8,995
Less Provision for impairment losses {3,397) {2,229)
Investment secunties
- Debt secunties 11,058 15,942
Other asseats a78 754
Credit nsk exposures relating to ofi-balance sheet items (note 43) 2,400 2,734
71,496 82,584

The above table represents the maximum credit nsk exposure to the Group at 31 Dacember 2011 and 2010, without taking account of any collateral held or other cradit
enhancemenis that do not quality for offset in the Group s financ:al statements

Far on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the balance sheet Off-balance sheet items mentioned above
include letters of guarantee, standby letters of credit, commitments to extend credit and documentary credits

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are summarised as follows

jefmillion] Jdimilliors

Nerther past due nor impared 34,742 44,529
Past due but not impaired 8,896 8,377
Imparred

- collectively assessed 4,113 3,379
- individually assessed 3,740 2,312
Gross 51,491 58,597
Less allowance for impairment {3,397) (2,329)
Net 48,094 56,268
Included in gross loans and advances are

Past due more than 90 days 7.898 5 635
Of which non-performing loans 6,224 4,534

The wholesale and small business loans as at 31 December 2011 are covered by collaterals at 48% and 70%, respectively (2010 48% and 70%, respactively} Consumer
loans are not collateralised, excapt for car loans where the Group retains ownership until full loan repayment Maortgage loans are tully collateralised
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72 Financlal nsk factors (continued)
721 Creditrisk (continued}
7 21 2 Loans and advances to customers {continued)
{a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impasred at 31 December 2011 and 2010 can be assessed by reference 1o the

Group's standard grading system The following information 1s based on that system
o]l B 2070}

Grades

Satistactory nisk 33,740 43,865
Watch hist and special mention 993 664
Total 34,742 44,529

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired

\W1iG1g8alg MoTigagcN ConsimerlSmall[bisiness)
Jeimiilion] Jeimillic Jefmiion]
Past due up to 29 days 1,219 1,733 1,104 1,077 5,133
Past due 30 - B9 days 1,274 628 386 812 3,100
Past due 80 - 180 days 427 236 - - 663
Total 2,920 2,597 1,490 1,889 8,896
Fair value of collateral 1,889 5,287 - 1,250 8,426

FSTIDEComERiz01s)
T Gy
Jemmillion

Past due up to 29 days
Past due 30 - 89 days

Past due 90 - 180 days

Total 2,684 1,810 1,586 8,377
Fair vatue of collateral 1,730 - a70 £.680

Based on past expenence, consumer and small business loans less than 90 days past due, and mortgage loans and fully collateralised wholesale loans less than 180 days
past due, are not considered impatred, unlass specific information Indicates to the contrary

(¢} impaired loans and advances collectively assessed

For collectively assessed accounts, lpans are treated as imparred based on hustoncal loss data for groups of loans with similar charactenstics The critena used by the
Group to determine that there 18 objective evidence of impairment are provided in Graup's accounuing policy 2 {j)

The collactively assessed loans and advances to customers before takng into consideration the cash flows from collateral held are € 4,113 milion {2010 € 3,379 million)
The breakdown of the gross amount of collectively assessed loans and advances by class, along with the far value of related collateral held by the Group as securty, are
as follows

Consumen
Jelmillion] Jelm|llion| Jelmitlicn]

Collectively assessed
foans 1,193 1,999 91 4,113 815 1,536 1,028 3,379
Fair value of collateral 1,898 - 435 2,334 1,292 - 499 1,791

(d) Impaired loans and advances mdividually assessed

For indiwidually assessed accounts, loans are treated as impaired as soon as there 1s objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred The criteria used by
the Group to determine that there 15 objective evidence of impairment are provided w1 Group's accounting policy 2 ()}

The individually assessed loans and advances 1o customers before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held are € 3,740 million (2010 € 2,312 milhion)
The breakdown of the gross amount of mdividually assessed loans and advances by class, along with the farr value of related collateral held by the Group as secunty, are

as follows
P ecembeg20L0]
jWholesale] JViholesalel DS D85S
Indndually assessed loans 2,264 1476 3,740 1,623 689 2,312
Fair value of collateral 1,119 914 2,033 818 400 1,216
(e) Non performing loans

Non-perlorming loans are defined as the loans delinquent for a given penod detarmined In accordance with the Group’s pokcy Mongages are considered as non-
pariorming when they are delinquent for more than 180 days and consumer loans for rore than 90 days Loans to corporate entities are considered as non-performing
when they are transferred to non accrual status which occurs when the toans are delinguent for more than 180 days or earlier (n the case of a matenal cradit event
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7 Financial risk management (continued)

72 Financial risk factors (continued)
721 Creditrisk (continued)
7212 Loezns and edvances to customers (continued)

(e) Non-parformmng loans {continued)

2013

efmillion)

- Wholesale lending 1,261
- Morgage landing 1,127
- Gonsumer lending 1.975
- Small business lending 1,861
Total 6,224

7 21 3 Debt Securities

The following table presents an analysis of debt secunties by rating agency designation at 31 Decernber 2011 and 2010, based on Moody's ratings or their equivalent

[edmillion)
Aaa - 599 - 453 1,052
Aaltp Aal - 19 83 182 294
Al 10 A3 0 259 281 ™ 611
Lawer than A3 259 1,914 5,617 1,480 9,280
Unrated 1 69 11 - 81
Total 260 2,860 5,992 2,206 11,318

s Nk

Ty

Aaa 25 609 - 8N 1,445
Aalto Aa3 - &1 198 166 415
Alto A3 5 513 169 92 779
Lower than A3 224 1,483 9,351 2,360 13,418
Unrated 33 92 47 0 172
Total 287 2,748 9.765 3,429 16,829

€ 5,871 million included In secunties rated Lower than A3, relates to Greek soveraign debt (2010 € 9,553 million), € 85 million relates to Insh and Porluguese sovereign
debt (2010 € 19 millon), while € 2,652 milhon relates to sovereign debt 1ssued mainly by other Euro-zone members, European Union members and candidate members
(2010 € 3,101 mallion)

7214 Concentration of credit risk
(a) Geographical sectors

The followang table breaks down the Group's main credit exposure at their gross cammying amounts, as categonsed by geographical region as at 31 December 2011 and
2010 For this table, the Group has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domictle of its counterparties

Loans and advances io banks
Denvative hinanctal instruments
Loans and advances to customers

Whalesale fending 15,347 913 5,880 345 22,485
Mortgage lending 11,793 67 2,150 19 14,029
Cansumer fending 5,568 [ 1,470 10 7,048
- Small business lending 6,683 [ 1,246 0 7,929
Dabt secunties 6,208 1,947 2,976 187 11,318
Other assets 740 35 102 1 878
Total 47,172 8,228 15,955 1,138 72,493
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7 Financial risk management (continued)
72 Financial risk factors {continued)

721 Credit risk (continued)

7 214 Concentration of credit risk (continued)

(a) Geographical sectors {continued)

i INewledTope] (Gihay

(Greacel 2 Counies] coliar el

[Emilion! Jemont Jesmilliony
Loans and advances to banks 984 3,638 318 219 5159
Denvative financial instruments 392 813 44 191 1,440

Loans and advances to customers

- Wholesale lending 16,718 7689 5,894 178 23,557
- Mortgaga lending 11,413 68 5617 21 17,119
- Cansumer lending 6,398 1 2817 10 8,928
- Small business lending 7.039 0 1,948 10 8,995
Debt secunties 9,788 2,752 3,265 424 16,229
Other assets 621 29 101 3 754
Total 53,353 8,070 19,702 1,054 82,179

{b) Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Group's main credd exposure at ther gross carrying amounts, as categonsed by the industry sectors of «ts counterparties as of 31

Decembear 2011 and 2010
)3 1iDecem be 201

Loans and advances to banks 5,988 - - - - - 6,988
Denvative financial instruments 1,014 1 50 T 60 616 1,818
Loans and advances to customers
- Whotesale lending 12,918 548 4,922 1,033 2,294 770 22,485
- Mortgage lending - 14,029 - - - - 14,029
Consumer lending - 7,048 - - - - 7,048
- Small business lending 6,563 257 631 - 414 64 7,929
Debt secunties 1,502 . 11 0 54 9,751 11,318
Other assets 435 3 Q0 - 0 440 878
Total 29,420 21,886 5,614 1,110 2,822 11,641 72,493

Wk

jefmllion] je¥mion
Loans and advances 1o banks 5,159 - - - - 5,159
Derivative financial instruments 1,062 1 40 85 34 238 1,440

Loans and advances to custamers

Wholesale lending 13,430 538 5,264 1,285 2,305 725 23,557
- Mortgage lending - 17,119 - - 17,119
- Consumer lending - 8,926 . - 8,926
Smalt business landing 7,448 137 806 - 506 98 8,995
Debt secunties 2,123 - 76 - 8 13,962 16,229
Other assets 320 8 i 1 424 754
Total 29,542 26,729 8,187 1,360 2914 15,447 82,179

Credi; exposure 1o other industry sectors includes mainly sovereign assets

722 Market risk

The Group takes on exposure to market nsks Market nsks anse from exposure on interest rate, currency and equity products of combinaton of them, all of which are
exposed to general and spacific market movements Specifically, the market nsks the Group Is exposed to are the following
(a) interest rate risk

The Group takes on exposure 1o the effects of fluctuations 1n the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financiat pesiions and cash flows Cash flow interest rate
nsk 1s the nsk that the future cash flows of a financtal Instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates Fair value interest rate nsk 1s the nsk that the
value of a financial mstrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates The Eurobank’s Risk Commitiee sets imits on the level of interest rate nsk that
may be undertaken and exposures are monitored daily

(b) Currency risk

The Group takes on exposure 1o the effects of fluctuations n the prevalling foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash tlows The Eurobank’s Risk
Cammitiee sets limits on the level of exposures which are momitored daity
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Financial risk management {continued)

Financial rigk factors {continued)
Market risk (continued)
{c) Equity risk

Equity pnce nsk 1s the nsk of the decrease of far values as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks The equity nsk that the
Group undertakes, anses mawmnly from the investment portfolic The Eurobank’s Risk Commttes sets hmits on the level of the exposures which are monitored daily

Market nsk in Greece and Cyprus 1$ managed and manitored using Value at Risk {VaR) methedology Market nsk in New Europe 1s managed and monitared using mainly
sensitvity analyses Information from New Europe i1s presented separately as it onginates from sigrificantly difierent economic environments with different nsk
charactenstics

(I} YaR summary for 2011 and 201¢

VaR 1s a methodology used in measuring financial nsk by estmating the potental negative change in the market value of a porttolio at a given confidence level and aver a
specified time horizan The VaR that the Group measures 1s an estimate based upon a 9% confidence level and a holding period of 1 day and the mathodology used for
the czlculation 1s Monte Carlo simulation {full repneing)

The VaR models are designed te measure market nsk in & normal market envrenment It 1s assumed that any changes occurring in the nsk tastors aftecting the normal
market environment will follow a normal distribution

Aithough VaR 1s an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the mode! 1s based do give nse to certamn hmitations  Given this, actual outcomes
are monitored regularly, via back testing pracess, 1o test the validity of the assumptions and the parameters used in the VaR calculation

Since VaRA consttutes an integral part of the Group's market nisk controf regime, VaR limits have been established for all {trading and investment pertlalios) operations and
actual exposure Is reviewed dally by management However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these imits in the event of extraordinary market
movements

Averaga VaR by nisk type (Trading and Investment partfohios ™'} Greece and Cyprus

20y] 2010)

€¥million) o]
Interest Rate Risk 32 45
Fareign Exchange Risk 3 2
Equities Risk 9 12
Total VaR 36 52

" intarest rate volatiity apphed to all portfolios Credit spread volatilty apphied to Tracing and Avarlable-for-sale positions
The aggregate VaR of the interest rate, foraign exchange and squibes YaR benefits from diversification effects

(i) Sensitivity anatysis for 2011 and 2010

Sansitwity analyses used far menitoring market nsk sternming from New Europe operations, excluding Cyprus, do not represent worst case scenarios

Blacembel
]
[St21eenent feqUlity]
gcfmillion) (2 miflie

Interest Rate +100 bps parallel shift (4) {5) {9
Equities / Equity Indices / Mutual Funds -10% decrease on
prices (0) © (0} {0 U o
Foreign exchange -10% depreciation of functional currency
over foraign currencies 5 (92} (87} ()] (93) (93}
Liquidity risk

The Group 1s exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources due to deposits withdrawals, matunty of medium or long term notes, loan draw-downs and guarantees
Furthermore, margin calls on secured funding transactions (with ECB and the market) and an nsk mingation contracts (CSAs, GMRAs} result in hquidity exposure The
Group maintains cash resources to meet all of these needs The Eurobank's Risk Commuttee sets liquidity imits to ensure that suthcient funds are avalable to meet such
contingencies

Past experience shows that liguidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably fess than the amount of the commitment
This 1s also the case with credit commiiments where the outstanding contractual amount 10 extend credit does not necessanly represent juture cash requirements, as
many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded

The matching and cortrolled mismatching of tha matunties and interest rates of assets and lialulies 15 fundamental to the management of the Group It 15 unusual for
banks to be completely matched, as transacted business s often of uncertan term and of different types An unmatched position potentizlly enhances profitability, but also
increases the nsk of losses

The matunties of assets and hiabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest beanng habilties as they mature, are important factors in assessing the
quidity of the Group

Liquidity Risk Management Framework

The Graup's Liquidity Risk Management Policy defines the following supervisory and control structure

- Eurabank Risk Committee's role 1 to approve all strategic kquidity nisk management decisions and morutcr the quantitative and qualitative aspects of liquidity nsk
- Group Assats and Liabiites Committea has the mandate 10 form and impiement the hquidity pelicies and guidelines in canformity with Group's nsk appetite, and to review
manthly the overall bquidity position of the Group
- Group Treasury 15 responsible for the implementation of the Group's hquidity strategy, the daily management of the Group's liquidity and for the preparaton and
monitoring of the Group's Liquidity budget

Globat Market and Counterparty Risk Sector is responsible for measuring, monitoring and reporting the liquidity of the Group

The tollawing list summanses the reports which are produced on a periodic basis

() The regulatory hquidiy gap report along with the regulatory hquidity ratios
{b) Stress test scenangs These scenarios evaluate the impact of a number of systemuc stress events on the Group's iquidity position
{c) Liquidity warning indicators
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Financlal risk management (continued)

Financlal risk factors (continued)
Llquidity risk (continued)
Agsets held for managing liquidity risk

The Group holds a diversihed partfalio of cash and high Liquid assets to support payment obligations and contingent deposit withdrawals 1n a stressed market environment
The Group's assets held for managing liquidity nsk compnse

{a) Cash and balances with ceniral banks

(o) Eigible bonds and other finaneial assets for coltateral purposes

(c) interbank placings maturing within onae month

The unutiised assets, containing highly iguid and central banks eligible assets, provide a contingent liquidity reserve of € 4 9 bn as at 31 Decermnber 2011 (2010 €6bn) In
additon the Group holds other types of tughly hqud assets, as defined by the regulator, amounting to € 19 bn (cash value) (2010 € 2 5 bn) The market value of highly
liquid assets, ollawing the repneing of collaterals by ECB, has been considerabily increased dunng the first quarter of 2012

Maturity analysls of liabllities

The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows for the years 2011 and 2010 Liabilities without contractual matunties (sight and
saving deposiis) are presented in the "less than 1 month” ume bucket The Group has established credit nsk migaton contracts with its nterbank counterpartes
(ISDA/CSA) Due to these contracts the Group has already posted coflateral equal with the valuation of its net liabilities from interbank denvatives Far denvative labiites
not covered by ISDA/CSA agreements the negative valuation 1s presented at fair value in the “fess than 1 month™ time bucket

It should be noted that this table represents the worst case scenarie since i is based on the assumption that all labilites will be paid earlier than expected (all term deposits
are withdrawn at their contractual maturity) The recent experience shows that even in a penod of a systemic financial cnsis the hikelihgod of such an event i1s remote

j31]Decemberd20jl]
Grossliomimal

Uessithan] -8 g3imonths} Overd (Infiow)d
iilmonth] [months] loYilveay ilyear [outtiow]

Non-dervative labiities

- Dus to othar banks & secured borrowing from banks 24,962 4,641 575 5,989 36,167
- Due to customers 18,536 5,450 6,739 2,052 32,777
- EMTNs 6 529 18 1.618 2,334
- Securiizatians {redemptions and coupans)"! 12 24 108 657 801
- Other iabuihas 137 268 467 1,001 1,873

43,653 10,912 8,070 11,317 73,952
Dervative financial mstroments 137 . . . 137

Moutiow from securitisatians is fully covered by respective inflows from mertgage loans with matched matunty repayments

f bala he

Cradit related commitments
Capial expendiure
Operating lease commitments

g3 Tiew 1-8 8 wErilis
) Ml fmonths] ® § yRED
[edmiilliory jedmillion efmilliony

Non-derivative habilities

- Due 16 other banks & secured borrowing from banks 15,303 10,373 407 748 26,831
- Due 1o customers 27,683 7.878 8,030 1.038 44,629
- EMTNs 5 640 850 2,960 4,495
- Secunitizations (redemptions and coupons)" 35 72 1,075 566 1,748
- Other hatslities 202 248 399 1,116 1 965

43,228 19,211 10,801 5,428 79,668
Denvative financial Instruments B4 - - B4

Yout of securtizations amounting to € 1 2 bn iIncluded 1n the up to 1 year range, € 0 4 bn outflow 1s covered by respective inflows from mortgage loans with matched
matunty repayments

-balan h m

Fess3ibant

Credit related commitmants
Capital expanditure
Operating lease commitments

Due to the Greek soveraign debt cngis, Greek banks obtained part of therr funding through the ECB and the Bank of Greece As at 31 December 2011, the Bank's net
funding from these sources totalled € 31 bn (2010 € 20 bn)
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7 Financlal risk managernent (continued)
72 Financial risk factors (continued)
723 Liquldity risk {continued)

International Monetary Fund {IMF) in its report, prepared in the context of Request for Extended Fund Facilty {9 March 2012), stresses the support of Troka {European
Commissian, European Central Bank and Internationa! Monetary Fund) and the Greek State to the banking system's liquichty and reiterates the need that dependence on
the Eurosystem should be extncated gradually and in an ordery fashion To this end, medium-term funding plans will be updated after the completion of the recapitatisation
exercise 1o ensure that the gradual unwinding of exceptional hquidity suppornt proceeds at a pace consistent with the macroeconomee, fiscal and hinancial framewark

Funds from recapitalisation, gradual recovery of private secter deposits, as a result of return to a sustainable path, and restoration of market access aver the next two or
three years {IMF notes that banks are expected to be able to re-access markets before the sovereign, mainly due to their ligh capialisation and low sovereign exposures
past recapitahsation), enhanced by the Bank’s undertaken initiatives to strengthen its quidity pesition, establish the canditions for a substantal reduction of Eurosystem

exposure in the medum term

73 Capital management

Capltal position pro-forma before impairment losses onh Greek soverelgn exposure

j203]1] P070]
B Stmillion] [efmiltion
Ordinary and Preferred shareholders' equity 5,406 5772
Add Regulatory non-contralling interest 210 232
Less Goodwill {299) {533)
Less Other regulatery adjustments {310) (384)
Total Tier | capital 5,007 5,087
Ter ll capital subordinated debt 468 799
Less Other regulatory adjusiments {259) {253)
Tota!l Regulatory Capital 5,216 5,633
Risk Weighted Assets 43,647 47,968
Ratios
Core Ther | 3] 91
Tierl 15 106
Capital Adequacy Ratio 120 117
EBA Equity Tier | Ratio 98 a0

74

Other thar the risks related to Greek savereign exposure and capital eragion resulting from thesr impairment {PSk+), the Group has sought to maintan an actively managed
capital base to cover nsks inherent In the business The adequacy of the Group's capital 15 monitored using, amang other measures, the rules and ratios established by the
Basel Commitiee on Banking Supervision ["BIS rulas/ratios”) and adopted by the European Unien and the Bank of Greece in suparvising the Bank

The Group, excluding the impact of PS1+, has complied with all externally imposed caprtal requirements throughout the yaar

During the last two years the Group focused on the organic strengthening of Its capital pesition and, excluding the impact of PSl+, managed to maintain capital ratios at
levels comfortably above minimum required This was achieved by ganerating and retaining profits and by active derisking of lending portfolios through tghter credit
policies and change in the porttolio mix in favour of more secured loans In addilion, it proceeded to two strategic initiatives, namely the partnarship in Poland (note 17} and
the merger with Dias $ A , which increased Capital Adequacy and Tser | ratios by more than 100 bps

Impairment losses on Gresk sovereign exposure
Please sea note b for the Group’s exposure to Greek saversign dabt and note 6 for the Group's capital requirements and recapitalisabion process

Post Balance gheel events

In February 2012, the Group successtully completed a hability management exercise buying back praferred secunties and Lower Tier |l notes, which ganerated a gain for
the Group and increased Core Tier | capital by € 250 million (note 34 and note 39)

tn April 2012 the Group announced the agreement for the sale of s Turkish operations to Burgan Bank § A This transaction, which is expected to complete in the autumn
of 2012, will increase Gore Tier | ratio by 60 bps (capital squivalent of approximatety € 300 milion, note 27)

Pro-forma with the Lability management and the disposal of Turkish operations, the EBA Equity Tier | ratio would increase to 11%, equivalent to € 880 million additonal
capital above the September 2012 threshold of 9%

Regulatory disclosuras regarding capital adequacy and nisk managemaent, based on Bank of Greece Acts 2692/2007 and 2632/2010 (Basel Il, Pilar 3), will be avanable at
the Bank's website as of 15 June 2012

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value 1s the amount for which an asset or labihty settled, between knowledgeable, willing parias in an arm s length transaction A market pnce, where an achve market
{such as a recognised stock exchange) exists, 18 the best evidence of the farr value of a financial instrument  Where market pnces are not available, the farr value of
financial assets and labilties 1s estimated using present value or other estimation and valuaton techniques where all significant inputs are observable These inputs are
mainly related to interest rate curves, fx rales, equity prices, credit spreads and imphed volatiities obtained from internatonally recogmised market data providers The
values derived using these techniques are significantly atfected by underiying assumptions ¢concerning bath the amounts and tming of future cash fiows and the discount
rates used In addition, the farr values reporied, may be matenally different from the values actually reahsed upon sale or settlernent

‘The assumplions and methodologies underlying the calculation of far value of financial instruments at the balance sheet date are as follows

a) Trading assets, denvatives and other transaction undertaken for frading purposes as well as treasury bills, available for sale secunties and assets and hiabilities
designated at farr value through-prolit-or-loss are measured at farr value (notes 22, 23, 26, 33, 34 and 35) by reference to quoted market pnces when avallable If
quoted prices are not avadable, then the fair values are estmated using valuation techniques

b) Investment secunties carried at amortsed cost the fair valua of inancial investments I1s determined using prices quoted in an active market when these are
avallable In other cases, far value i1s determined using a valuation technigue (note 26)

c) Loans and advances to customers for loans and advances o customers quoted market prices are not avaiable as there are no active markets where these
instruments are traded The far value 1s determined using generally accepted valuation techniques with current market parametars For short term lpans, the
carrying amount represents a reasonable estmate of the fair value For long-term loans the fair value i1s estimated by diseounting future expected cash flows over
the ume penod they are expected 1o be recovered, using nsk-adjusted rates

At the balance sheet date the fair value of the loans and advances to customers 1s marginally higher than their carrying values
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7 Financial risk management {continued)

T4 Falr values of financial assets and liabllities {continued)

d) Debt issued and other borrowed funds the far value of the debt 1ssued and other bomowed funds 13 determined using quoted market prices, If available If
guoted prices are not available, the fair value I1s determined by discounting the remaining contractual cash flows at a discount rate adjusted for own credit spread,
where appropnate {note 34)

a} Other inancial instruments, wiuch are short term or re-pnice at frequent intervals, their carrving value represents a reasonable estimate of far value

Al inangial instruments that are measured at fair value are categonsed in one of the three farr value hierarchy levels at year-end, based on whether the inputs to the far
values are observable or non-observable

1) Level 1 — Quoted pnces i active markets for identical assets and habilites Quoted pnces must be readily and regularly avalable from an exchange or active
index/market location and prices must represent actual and regularly occurnng market transactions on an arm'’s length basts

1) Level 2 - Financial instruments measured using valuation techniques where all significant inputs are market observable
) Level 3 — Financial instruments measured using valuation techruigue with sigmificant non observable inputs

741 Financlal assets and liabllities measured at fafr vajue
The classfication of the Group's financial assets and iabilities using the fair value hierarchy 1s presented in the following table

Qtoied] Vatuation)
EEm B D (G 665

[Darke N a camete SN parameters)

(Fevell) (Cevelr2)] (Levell3)]
jeimillion] etmitiion J<imiliion]

Financal assets measured at fair value

Loans and advances to banks - 212 - 212
Financial instruments held for trading 259 15 - 274
Financ:al instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss 229 - - 229
Denvative inancial instruments 7 1,811 - 1,818
Avallable for-sale investment securities 3,043 142 - 3,185
Total financial assets 3,538 2,180 - 5,718
Financial habiities measured at farr value

Denvative inancial instrurments [} 3,007 - 3,013
Dus to customers

- Structured deposits - 67 - 67
- Unit Sinked products 236 335 - 571
Debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds

- Structured notes . - 15 - 15
Acquisiion obligations - 154 . 154
Trading abilties 4 14 - 18
Total financial liabilities 246 3,592 - 3,838

As at 31 December 2011, GGBs included in Financiat instruments held for trading and Available-for sale secunties amounting to € 13 miflion and € 9 million, respectively,
ware classified in Level 2 (note 5)

Qoo
poceshd fechnigle]

fectivel [obseiable]

TERER RETERIERES
[ FevelRiy {{Jeved2)] [
JAmilligny gSAnijond &3 jesmiition]

Financial assets measured at fair value

Financial instruments held for trading 312 38 - 350
Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss 283 5 - 288
Darrvative financial iInstruments 7 1,433 - 1,440
Avalabte-tor sale investment secuntes 3,155 214 - 3,368
Total financial assets 3,757 1,690 - 5,447

Financial habilties measurad at far value

Denvative financial instruments 6 2,675 - 2,681

Due to customers

- Structured deposits 192 - 192
- Unit hnked products 293 362 - 655
Debt 1ssued and other barrowed funds

« Structured notes - 318 - 318
Acquisition obligations - 128 - 128
Trading liabilities 58 . - 58
Total financial Llabities 357 3,675 B 4,032

75 Fiduciary activities

The Group prowides custody, trustee, carparate admnistratan, investment management and advisory services to third parties This Involves the Group making allocation,
purchase and sale decisions in relation to a wide range of knanciat instruments Those assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these financial
slatements
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-] MNet interest Income

Interest income
Customers
Banks

Trading secunties
Other secunties
Denvatives

Interest expense

Customers

Banks

Debt 1ssued and other borrowed funds
Cenvatives

Total from continuing operations
TFotal from discontinued operations

Total

9 Net banking fee end commission income

Lending related fees and commissions

Mutual funds and assets under management related fees
Capital markets related lees

Cther fees

Total frem continuing operations

Total from discontinued operations
Totat

10 Income from non banking services

Jefmillion jenllion!

3,130 3,019
125 88
54 20
811 766
1,169 1,056
5,289 4,549
{1,118} {1,043)
(709) (330}
{108} (151}
(1,317} {1,322)
(3,250} (2,846}
2,039 2,103
a8 151
2,077 2,354

Income from non banking services Includes rental scome from investment properties and other recurnng income from services provided by the Group (e g payroll

services, @ commerce}

1 Net trading income and gains less | from investment securities

Debt secunties and other financial mstruments
Equity secunties and mutual funds
Gains/{losses) an dervative financia! instruments
Impairment allowance for investment securites
Revaluation on foreign exchange positions

Total from continuing operations

Tota! from discontinued operations
Total

2 193
0 1
(o7 (45)
(81) 4
7 17
(70) 162
o 4
70} 166

In response to adverse macroaconomic conditions the Group recogrused in March 2011 an impairment allowance on a collective basis of € 130 millon for corporate
secunties and denvative exposures By 31 December 2011, the major amount of this impairment allowance had been allocated to specific corporate securities and other

financial instruments

12 Operating expenses

Staff costs {note 13)

Administrative expenses

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

Operating leasa rantals

Total from continuing operations

Total trom discontinusd operations
Total
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674 714

32 347

83 87

30 28

[:}:] 104

1,198 1,280

39 146

1,237 1426
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14

15

Staff costs
2017

Jefmillion]
Wages, salanes and performance remuneration 500
Social secunty cosis 89
Additional pension and other post employment costs 27
Other 43
Total from continuing operations 674
Total from discontinued oparations 16 58
Total 690 772

The average number of employees of the Group dunng the year was 19,659 The average number of employees for 2010 was 20,289, excluding the employses of Polish
subsidarias

Other non recurring valuation losses

Impairment losses on corporate bonds and equities 423 -
Releasa ol exchange diflerences 1o net profit 71 -
Losses from disposal of associated undertakings (note 30) 7 -
Total 501 -

As a result of adverse macroeconamic conditions in Greece, the Group recognised simparment lasses an equity secunties, the main part of which are listed in the Athens
Stock Exchangs, amounting to € 410 million, for which the dechine in their fair value below cost is considered to be significant or prolonged

Release of exchange differences to net profit relates to permanent funding to Eurobank Tekifen A S , which will be repaid an completion of its disposal (note 27)

Income tax
2011 20.10]
Jemillion)] ctilion)
Current tax [ 64
Delerred tax {note 16) {1,342) (69
Overseas taxes 20 20
Special tax contnbuticn {see below) - 45
Total tax charge/(income) from continuing operations (1,316) 60
Total tax charge/{income) from discontinued gperations 30 (8
Total {1,285) 52

The deferred tax asset in refation to the 53 5% of the notional value jorgiven on the bonds participating in the PSl+ program (note 5), was calculated on the basis that the
Bank 15 expected to have sufficient taxable prolits over the five year penod following the crystalisaton of the tax loss, as stipulated by the tax legistation that existed an 31
Dacember 2011 On 14 February 2012, Law 4046/2012 was enacted and provided that the tax losses ansing from the bond exchange under the PSi+ program (note 5) will
be tax deductible in equal instalments over the ife of the new bonds received

Under Law 3943/2011, the nominal Greek corparate tax rate as of January 2011 reduced from 24% to 20% (2010 24%) In addiion, dividends distrbuted as of 2012 are
subject to a 25% withholding tax (21% withhalding tax for dividends distnbuted within 2041)

Inceme tax expensea for the year 2010 includes the amount of € 45 million, being a special tax contnbution iImpesed by Law 3845/2010 on legal entities' net revenues of
yeaar 2009

The tax on the Group's prolit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the applicable tax rates as follows

i poTe
Protit/{loss} before tax from continuing aperations (6,955) 177
Tax at the applicable tax rates {1,391} 42
Tax effect of
- income and expenses not subject 1o tax 56 (8)
- etfect of different tax rates in ditferent countries (1} @n
- change in applicable tax rate 4 9
- special tax contrbution and other special taxes introduced in Greece 16 48
Total tax charge/{income) from continuing operations {1,316} ]
Total tax charge/(income} from discontinued operations 30 {8
Total (1,286) 52
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17

Deferred Income taxes

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the hability method at the rate in effact at the time the reversal 15 expected to take place

The movement on the delerrad income tax account 1s as follows

Balance at 1 January

Impairment on Greek sovereign axposure
Qther income statement credit{charge)
Avarable for sa's investment secunties

- far value measurement {note 26 3)

- transter to net profit

Cash flow hedges

Disposal of foreign cperations

Other

Balance at 31 December

Defarred income tax assetliability s attnbutable te the following tems

Changes in far value accounted directly to available-for sale revaluation reserve
Changes in fair value accounted through the income statemant

Cash flow hedges

Sale of treasury and other shares

Fixed assets

Pensions and other post retirement benefits

Loan impairment

Unused tax losses

Other

Net deferred income tax

The net deferred income tax 1s analysed as follows

Deterred income tax asset (note 30)
Delemred income tax liabilty {note 35)
Net deferred income tax

Deferred inceme tax (credity/charge in the income stateament is attributable to the following items

Changes in far value

Fixed assats

Pensions and other past retirement benefits
Loan impasrment

Other

Deferred ingome tax {credit)/charge

Discontinued operations

18 18
(108) (8)
@ 17
(45) .
18 9
1,708 487

- 00
jefmillion]
20 110
1173 (75)
23 27
34 41
(38) (21)
1 19
407 311
25 33
53 42
1,708 487
j2071] [2070)
€ 0 [ddmillion)
1,726 503
{18) (18)
1,708 487
1201,1] Hm
Jetmiltion) [dmillior)
{1,248) 29
17 7
8 7
(105) {106)
(4 {13}
(1,342} (76)

Based on the terms of the Investment Agreement signed with Raiffeisen Bank international AG (RBI) in February 2011, the Group has recorded the disposal of lts Polish
operations as of 31 March 2011 for a total consideration of € 718 milllon The consideration recaivable wall be subject to adjustmanis based on the Net Asset Value of
Polbank EFG at the closing of the transaction and includes the mimmum value of the Group's put option on its 13% stake in the combined-with-RB1 Polish eperations Total
consideration receivable has baen increased to € 852 million as of 31 December 2011, to include amounts contnbuted to Polbank EFG by the Graup prior to the clasing
date, which under the agresment are racevable by the acquirer The jast of regulatary approvals was received on 17 Apnl 2012 and the transfer of shares I1s expected 10
take place on 30 April 2012 The put option will continug to be valued in the Group's Income Statement based on the business performance of the combined entity The
results of the Group s Polish operations presented as a discontinued operation are set out befow The income statemant distinguishes discontinued aperations from

continuing operaions Gomparative figures have been restated

Met interest Income

Net banking fee and commuission income

Other income from disconuinued oparations

Operating expenses

Impairment losses on loans and advances

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations until 31 March 2011

Income tax
Profit/(loas) before gain on disposal

Gain on disposal before tax
Tax on gain on disposal

Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations attributable to
shareholders
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19

20

Discontinued operations (continued)

Eftect of disposgal on the Group's balance sheet
The major classes of assets and habilities of the disposed Polish operations as at 31 March 2011 are as follows

Jetmillion]
Loans and advances o banks 819
Loans and advances to customers 5,011
Other assets 662
Total assets disposed 5,492
Due to other barks 2,277
Due to customers 3,548
Cther habities 192
Total liabilities disposed 6,017

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share ts calculated by dividing the net profit attnbutable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue dunng the
year, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased by the Group and held as treasury shares

The diluted eamings per share 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of erdinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all potentially dilutive
ordinary shares The Group has two categones of potentally dilutive ordinary shares share options and convertible, subject to certain conditions, preferred secunties In
order 10 adjust the weighled average number of shares for the share options a calcutation 1s done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
va'lue {determined as the average market price of the Bank's shares for the year) based on the monstary value of the subscnption nghts attached to outstanding share
options The number of shares calculated as above 1s added to the weightad average number of ordinary shares in issue in order to determine the weighted average
number of ordinary shares used for the calculation of the diluted earmings per share

Net profit/{loss) for the year attnbutable to erdinary shareholders
(after deducting dividend attributable to preference shares, prelerred secunhes holders, non recurming valuation € mition (5,531} {78)
losses and special tax contribution and after including gamns/{losses) on prefgrred secunties)

Net profit{loss) for the year fram continuing operations
(atter deducting dwidend atinbutable o preference shares, preterred secunties halders, non recurnng valuation € muflion (5.674) {45)
losses and special tax contribution and after including gains/{losses) on preferred secunties)

Waeighted average number of ordinary shares in issue Numbar of sharas 546,113,385 537,991,864
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earmings per share Number of shares 546,113,385 537,991,864

Earnings/(losses) per share
- Basic and diluted aarnings/{losses) per share € (1013} 0 15)

Earnings/(losses) per share from continuing operations
- Bagie and diluted earnings/{losses) per sharg € (10 39) (0 08)

Basic and diluted earmings per share {rom discontinued operations for 2011 amount to € 0 26 (2010 loss per share € 0 06)
The dwvidend atirnbutable to preference shares was not included in the EPS calculation for 2011 (note 38)

Share aptions did not have an effect on the diluted earmings per share, as ther exercise price exceeded the average market price of the Bank's shares for the year Tha
Senes D and Senes E of preferred securities {note 39), 1ssued in July and November 2009 respectively, were not included in the caleulation of diluted earmings per shara,
as tharr effect would have been anti-dilutive The scheme of contingently {performance based) issuable shares was terminated within 2011

Cash and balances with central banks

Cash in hand 499 586

Balances with central banks 2,787 3,020
3,286 3,606

of which

Mandatory and collateral deposits with central banks 2,262 1,414

Mandatory deposits with central banks represent the miimum level of average menthly deposiis which the Group s required to maintain Balances wath central banks can
be withdrawn at any time provided the average monthly minimum deposits are maintained

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpese o tha cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents compnse the following balances with less than 80 days maturity

12001]

jgfmillion)

Cash and balances with central banks {excluding mandatory and collateral deposits with central banks) 1,024
Loans and advances to banks 1,868
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 232
3,124
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221

Loans and advances to banks

201,1]
[imiltion)
Pledged deposits with banks 4,697
Current accounts and settiement batances with banks 249
Placemants with banks 1,782
Reverse repos with banks 260 1,010
6,988 5,159

The fair value of financial assets that the Group accepted as collateral and may be sold or repledged was € 294 million {2010 € 1,168 millon) The majonty of the
secunties received were repladged under repurchase and other collateral agreements with central banks or other banks

Financial instruments at tair value through profit or loss (Including trading)

Trading portfolio

Issued by public bodies

- govemment 254 257

- other public sector 1 1
255 258

Issued by other issuers

- banks 4 35

- other 15 57

19 92

274 350

Other tinancial assets deslgnated at fair value through profit or loss

~ unit inked products 229 283

- hedge funds - 5
229 288

Total 503 6538

Equity secunties 14 83

Dabt securities 260 287

Other tinancial assets at far vatue through profit or loss 229 288

Total 503 638

Trading secunbes with far value of € 113 millien (2010 € 99 million) were pledged under repurchase and other collateral agreemants

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments

The Group utlises the following denvative instruments for both hedging and non hedging purposes

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase or sell foreign and domestic currency Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual obligations to
recene or pay a net amount based on changes in currency rates or Interest rates or o buy or sell foreign currency or a financial tnstrument on a future date at a specified
price established m an orgarized financial market Since future contracis are collateralised by cash or marketable secunties and changes n the futures contract value are
settled daily with the exchange, the credit nsk s neglgible

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another Swaps result in an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates
{for examiple, fixed rate for floating rate} or a combination of a!l these {1 @ cross cumency interest rate swaps) Except for centain currency swaps, no axchange of principal
takes placa The Group's credit nsk represents the patential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to perform ther obligatien This nsk 15 monitored on an
ongoing basis with retarence to the current fair vatue, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market To control the level of credit nsk
undertaken the Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities and/or marks 1o market with bilatera! collateralisation agreements
over and above an agreed threshold

Foreign currency and interest rate options are contractual agreements under which the seller (wrier} grants the purchaser (holder) the nght, but nat the obligation, either to
buy (a call option) or sell {a put option) at or by a set date or dunng a set penod a specilic amount of a foreign currency or a financial instrumant at a predetermined pnce
In consideration for the assumption of foreign exchange or interest rate nsk, the seller receives a premium from the purchaser Options may be aither exchange traded or
negotiated between the Group and a customer (OTC) The Group 1s exposed to credit risk on purchased options only, and only to the extent of their carmying amount, which
1s thenr farr value

The notional amounts of cenain types of financial instruments provide a basis for companson with instruments recognised on the balance sheet but da nof necessanly
ndicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair vaiue of the instruments and, therefore, do not Indicate the Group's exposure {0 credit or price rnisks
The denvative instruments becoma favourable {assets) or unfavourable (labilities) as a result of fluctuations 10 market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative 1o
therr terms The aggregate contractual or notional amount of denvatwe inancial instruments on hand, the extent to which instrurnents are favourable or untavourable and,
thus the aggregate farr values of denvative financial assets and habilites can fluctuate significantly from tme o time The tarr values of denvative instruments held are set
out in the following table
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Derivative financlal instrurments and hedge accounting (continued)

Derivative financial instruments {continued)

[Ea\dvaliss]
[ASSets] ¥

Derivatives held for trading

OTC currency denvatives
- Cuwency lorwards 1,264 42 26 926 16 13
- Curmrency swaps 10,330 15 69 9,073 19 295
- OTC currency optiens bought and sold 2,112 65 55 7,459 243 241
122 150 278 548
OTC intarest rate danvatives
- Interest rate swaps 26,765 1,369 1,189 32,555 817 a71
- Cross-cuirency Interast rate swaps 4,045 104 122 3,283 173 106
- Forward rate agreements 418 0 - 1,318 0 0
- OTC interest rate options 14,375 141 173 15,931 41 56
1,614 1,484 1,031 1,133
Exchange traded «nterest rate futures 81 7 6 105 7 6
Exchange traded interest rate options 95 0 0 323 0 0
1,621 1,490 1,038 1,139
Cther denvatives
Forward secunty contracts - . - 13 a 0
Other denvative contracts (see below) 740 8 10 588 4 4
8 10 4 4
Total danvative assetsArabilities held for trading 1,751 1,650 1,320 1,692
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 4,742 33 1,180 6,867 57 714
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 59 0 31 66 0 22
33 1,211 57 736
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps 7479 20 113 8,693 41 109
Cross-currency intarest rate swaps 4,142 13 32 3,912 4 134
33 145 45 243
Derivatives designated as net investment hedges
Currency forwards/currency swaps 494 1 7 601 18 10
Total dervative assetsMiabiities held for hedging purposes 67 1,363 120 989
Total derivatives assets/liabllities 1,618 3,013 1,440 2,681

Other denvatwe contracis include credit default swaps, aver tha-counter equity options, exchange traded index futures, exchange traded index cptions bought and sold and
commodity swaps

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivatives for hedging purposas in order to reduce its exposure to market nsks and non-derivative financial instruments to manage fereign currency nsk
The hedging practices and accounting treatment are disclosed in Note 2 (d)

(a} Fair value hedges

The Group hedges a proportion of its existing interest rate nsk resulting from any potential decrease n the fair value of fixed rate financial assets denominated both in lecal
and fereign currancies using interest rate and cross curency interast rate swaps The nat fair value of these swaps at 31 December 2011 was € 1,178 milion hability (2010
€ 679 million liability} The Group recognized a loss of € 4 million (2010 € 4 milion loss) from changes in the fair value of the hedged items attnbutable to the hedged nsk,
net of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments

(b) Cash tlow hedges

The Group hedges a proportion of its existing interest rate nsk resulting from any cash flow vanability associated with future interest rate changes on vanable rate assets or
hatdities or unrecogrised highly probable forecast transactions using wterest rate swaps At 31 December 2011, interest rate swaps had a net far value of € 112 million
hability (2010 € 198 million habifity) In 2011, the ineffectiveness recognised in income statement that arose from cash flow hedges was € nil (2010 € 0 03 milbon gain)

{c) Net investment hedges

The Group hedges part of the cumency translatten nsk of net investments in foreign operations through denvative financial instruments and borrowings designated as
hedging nstruments, the results of which have been deferred in the translation reserve component of equity

Borrowings and denvative financial instruments amounting to € 785 milbon {2010 € 797 million), analysed in RON 13 bn (2010 RON 11 bn), RSD nil {2010 RSD 56 bn)
and TRY 995 million {2010 TRY 920 million), gave nse to currency gans for the year of € 13 million {201C € 9 8 millon losses}), which affected posttively the currency
translaton reserve
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24 Loans and advances to customers

Whalesale lending

22,485 23,557

Morigage lending 14,029 17,118
Consumer fending 7,048 8,926
Small business lending 7,929 8,995
Gross [oans and advances to customers 51,49 58,597
Less Prowision for impairment losses {note 25) (3,.397) (2,329)
48,094 56 268

The loans and advances to customers include the following amounts

- secuntised loans

- pledged loans under third stream of Greek economy Liquidity support program (note 4)
- pledged toans under covered bond program {note 34)

- pledged loans with central and other banks

- matuning after 1 year

Loars and advances to custarmners include finance lease recevables as detalted below

Gross investment n finance leases recevable
Nat later than 1 year

397 401
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,024

997
Later than 5 years 1,136 1,241
2,557 2,639
Unearned future finance income on finance leases (439) {511)
Net investment in finance leases 2,058 2,128
Less provision for impairment losses (116) (89}
1,942 2,039
The net iInvesiment in finance leases 1s analysed as follows
Not later than 1 year 325 328
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 829 803
Later than 5 years 904 997
2,058 2,128
Less provision for imparment losses (116} {89)
1,942 2,039

25 Provision for Impalrment losses on loans and advances to customers

The movement of the provision for impairment losses on loans and advances by ¢lass s as follows

3JIDecemberf201

ISmalllbusipess]

Balance at 1 January 560 161 988 820 2,329
Impairment losses on loans and advances charged in the year 233 131 636 333 1,333
Additional collective provision for Greek sovereign risk 157 - - 1 158
Amounts recovered dunng the year 33 0 27 4 64
Loans written off during the year as uncallectible (44) (6) (125) (25) {200)
Foreign exchange differences and other movements (35) (14} (108) {43) (201}
Disposal of foreign operations (1) (4) {61) (20) {86}
Balance at 31 December 803 268 1,356 870 3,397

Balance at 1 January
Imparment losses on loans and advances charged in the year from
continuing operatons 175 75 796 227

1,273
Impairment losses on loans and advances charged in the year from
discontinued operations - 2 69 17 a9
Amounts recovered during the year 3 0 27 1 31
Loans writtan off during the year as uncollectible )] ()] (638) {60} {705)
Foraign exchange differances and othar movements (8) 9 (85) 8 (101)
Balance at 31 December 560 161 988 §20 2,329
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26

261

investment securities

20151
efmillion
Availlable for-sale investment secuntes 3,185
Debt securities lending portfolio 5,892
Held-to matunty investment secunties 2,206
. 11,383
Debt secunties matunng after 1 year 7,222

Investment secunities of € 8,771 milhon (2010 € 13,280 million) were pledged under repurchase and other collateral agreements
As at 31 December 2011, the far value of "Debt secunties lending” and "Held-to-matunty investment securities” was € 5,593 milion and € 1,839 million, respectively

In 2008 and 2010 in accardance with the amendments to 1AS 39, the Group reclassified eligble debt securties from the “Available-for-sale” portiolio to “Debt secunties
lending" portfolio carmed at amortised cost Interest on the rectassified securities continued to ba recognised in interest income using the offective interest rate method As
at 31 December 2011, the carying amount of the reclassified secunties was € 3,113 mition M the financial assets had not been reclassified a) changes in the far value of
non impaired reclassilied secuntes for the penod from the reclassification date until 31 December 2011, would have resulted in € 443 million losses, nat of tax, which
would have been recogrized in avaltable-for-sale revaluation reserve and b) changes in the fair value of imparred reclassified secuntes would have affected positively 2011
profit or loss

As of 2011, the fair value of the reclassified Greek Governmant Bonds has been estmated using a valuation technique In accordance with the Group's policy, valuation
models are used where the market for speciiic inancial instruments 1s highly illiquid  This may be evidenced by vanous market indicators such as low frequency of trades,
significantly low trading volumes, and exchanges that do not represent orderly market transactions As at 31 December 2011, following the 21 February 2012 Eurcarea
finance ministers' agreement on the second support package for Greece and on the tinal terms of the voluntary exchange program (PSk+) (note 5), and considenng the
substantal credit enhancement of the new GGBs and the high private sector participation in the PSl+, signsicantly contnbuting to Greece's debt sustainability improvement,
the Group has re affirmed the use of 9% as discount rate for its GGBs valuation model

Classification of investment securitles by type

'

Issued by pubkc bodies
- government
- other public sector

Issued by other 1ssuers

- banks 63 148 431 647
- other 409 187 701 1,297
477 335 1,132 1,944

Tetal 3,185 5,992 2,206 11,383
Listed 2,839 5,570 2,084 10,493
Unlisted 346 422 122 890
3,185 5,992 2,206 11,383

Equity 325 - - 325
Debt 2,860 5,992 2,206 11,058
3,185 5,992 2,206 11,383

Issued by public bodies
government
- other public sector

2,427 9,235 2,051 13,713

Issued by other issuers
banks 230 308 520 1,168
other 612 222 858 1,692
942 530 1,378 2,850
Total 3,269 9.765 3,429 16,563
Listed 2,893 9,623 3,333 15,849
Unlsted 476 142 96 714
3,369 9.765 3429 16,563
Equity 621 - 621
Debt 2,748 9,765 3,429 15,042
3,369 9,765 3,429 16,563
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26 tnvestment securities (continued)

262 Movement of investment securities

Balance at 1 January 3,369 9,765 3,429 16,563
Additions, net of disposals and redemptions 85 375 (562) (102)
Net gains/(fosses) from changes i far value for the year (208) - - (206)
Reclassification from trading portfolio (absomtion of Tias 5 A) 50 - - 50
Reclassificaton from loans and advances to customers - 239 - 239
Amortisation of premiums/discounts and interest 108 18 (20) 206
Amortisation of mark-to-market of reclassified secunties - 59 13 72
Changes in farr value due to hedging - 384 - 384
Impairment losses (92} (4,954) (601) (5,647)
Exchange adjustments (10} 6 (53 (57)
Dusposal of foreign operations {119) - - {119)
Balance at 31 December 3,185 5,992 2,206 11,383

jlogsale] end kmatlintyl
seclrties] inortfolic) [secuniias!
Jebmetion] [efmulliony (2 it
Balance at 1 January 6,855 4,663 3,625 15,243
Ansing from acquisiions 28 - 28
Additions, net of disposals and redemptions 209 1,248 (350} 1,107
Net gains/{losses) from changes in fair value for the year {247) . - (247)
Reclassifications (3,620) 3,518 102 -
Amortisaton of premiums/discounts and interest (37) 109 1 73
Amomisation of mark-to-market of reclassified secunties - 74 15 89
Changes in far value dug to hedging 122 - 122
Exchange adjustments 81 k)l 36 148
Balance at 31 Decembaer 3 369 8,785 3,429 16,563

263 Equity reserve revaluation of the avallable-for-sale investments

Gains and losses arnsing from the changes n the farr value of availlable-for sale investments are recognised in a revaluation reserve for avadable for sale financtal assets In
equity The mavament of the reserve 1s as follows

2014] F2¢10)

[efmiljion; [t tion:

Balance at 1 January {618) (473)
Net gains/(losses) from changes in far value (185) (211)
Deferred iIncome taxas 18 18
Non controlling interest's share of changes n farr value 0 4]
(167) {183)

Negt (gams)Nosses transferred to net profit on disposal (87) {70)
Impairment losses on Greek sovereign debt transfar to net profit, net of tax 250 B
Impairment losses an other investment secunties transier to net proft, net of tax 354 5
Deterred income taxes 14 15

531 {50}

Net {(gains)Tosses translerred to net profit from tav value hedges/amortisation

of mark-to-market 67 121
Deferred incame taxes N (23)
60 98

Batance at 31 Decemnber (194) (618)
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27 Shares in subsidiary undertakings

The following 1s a listing of the Bank's subsidiaries at 31 December 2011

e
ey JNotey Nolding orpora )

Be-Business Exchanges S A 9801 Gresce Buginess-te-business e-commerce
Best Dwect S A 100 00 Greace Sundry services

EFG Eurobank Ergasias Leasing S A a 100 00 Greece Leasing

EFG Eurolfe General Insurance S A 100 00 Greace Insurance sernvices

EFG Eurofife Life Insurance S A, 100 00 Greaco Insurance services

EFG Ingurance Services S A, 100 00 Greace Insurance brokerage
Eurobank EFG Asset Management Mutual Fund Mngt Company b 100 00 Greace Mutual fund and asset management
Eurobank EFG Business Senaces S A 100 00 Greece Pzyroll and advisory services
Eurobark EFG Cards S A 100 00 Greoce Credit card management
Eurobark EFG Equies S A 100 00 Gresce Capita! markets ard advisory services
Eurobank EFG Factors S A 100 00 Gresce Factonng

Euwrobank EFG Financial Plannng Services S A 10900 Greece Management of recenvables
Eurgbank EFG Property Services S A 100 00 Gresce Real pstate services
Euwrcbank Propertes RE I C c 55 94 Grasce Real estate

Global Fund Management S A 99 50 Graece Investment advisors
QOPEN24 S A 100 00 Greoce Sundry services

Eurcbank EFG Bulgara A D 99 99 Bulgana Banking

Bulganan Retall Services A D 100 00 Bulgana Credit card management
EFG Auto LeasngEO O D 100 00 Bulgaria Vehicle leasing and renta!
EFGleasmgEAD 100 00 Bulgaria Leasing

EFG Property Sarvices Sotia A D 8000 Bulgana Real estate services
IMOD3IEAD d 100 06 Bulgana Real estate sarvices

IMQ Central Office E A D e 100 00 Bulgara Real estate services

IMO Property Investments Sofia E A D 100 00 Bulgana Real astate serwces
IMORIAEAD e 100 00 Bulgana Real estate services

EFG Hellas {Cayman Islands) Ltd 100 0¢ Cayman Islands  Special purpose financing vehicle
EFG Hellas |l (Cayman lslands) Lid 10000 Cayman Islands  Special purpose financing vehicle
Berbers Investments Ltd 100 00 Channel Islands  Holding company

EFG Hellas Funcing Lid 100 00 Channel Islands  Special purpose financing vehicle
Ewrobank EFG Cyprus Lid f 100 00 Cyprus Banking

CEH Balkan Holdings Ltd 100 a0 Cyprus Helding company

Chamia Enterpnses Company Ltd g 100 GO Cyprus Special purpose investment vehicle
EFG New Europe Funding Il Lid 100 Q0 Cyprus Finance company

NEU Property Hokdings Ltd 100 00 Cyprus Helding company

NEU Ii Property Haldings Ltd h 10000 Cyprus Holkding comparny

NEU 1l Property Holdings Ltd h 100 C0 Cyprus Holding company

Eurobank EFG Private Bank Luxembourg S A. 100 00 Luxembourg Banking

Eurobank EFG Fund Management Company (Luxembourg) S A 100 00 Luxembourg Fund management

Eurobank EFG Holding (Luxembourg) S A 10C 00 Luxembourg Holdirgy company

EFG New Europe Funding B V 100 00 Netherands Finance company

EFG New Europe Funding 1 BV 100 00 Netherlands Finance company

EFG Mew Eurepe Holding BV 100 00 Nethadands Holding company

Bancpost S A ! 98 1 Romana Banking

EFG Eurebank Finance S A 100 Q0 Romana Investment banking

EFG Eurcbank Secunties S A 100 00 Romama Camital markets services
EFG Leasing IFN § A 100 00 Romanma Leasing

EFG Eurcbank Praperty Services S A 80 cO Romaria Real estate services

EFG IT Shared Services S A 100 00 Romama Informatics data processing
EFG Retal Services IFN 5 A 100 00 Romania Credit card management
Ebade Tower S A 1 5594 Romama Real estate

IMO Property invastments Bucurest S A 100 00 Romania Real estate services

IMO-Hl Property tnvestments S A k 100 00 Romamia Real estate services

Retaill Development S A | 5594 Romania Real estate

& C EFG Eurolfe Asiguran de Viata S A 100 00 Romania Ingurance sarvices

5 C EFG Eurolile Asiguran Generale S A 100 00 Romania Insurance services

Selerco Development S A m 55 94 Romania Rea! estate

Eurobank EFG A D Beograd 9998 Serbia Banking

EFG Assel Find o o Beograd 100 00 Serbia Asset management

EFG Business Services d 0 0 Beograd 100 09 Serbia Payroll and advisory services
EFG Leasing A D Beograd 99 99 Searba Leasmg

EFG Property Services d o o Beograd 80 00 Sarbia Real estate services

IMO Property investments A D Beograd 100 00 Serbia Real estate senaces

Reco Aea! Property A D n 55 94 Serbia Real estate

Eurobank Tekfen A S [ 9526 TFurkay Banking

EFG Finansal Kiralama A S P 99 26 Turkey Leasing

EFG Istanbul Holding A S 100 00 Twkey Halding company

EFG Istanbul Equities Menkul Degerter A S q 89 26 Turkey Caputal market services

EFG Istanbu! Portfoy Yonetimw A S r 8926 Turkay Mutual fund management
Public J § G Unversal Bank 99 96 Ukraine Banking

EFG Property Services Ukraine LLC 10000 Ukrane Real estate servnices
Eurobank EFG Ukraine Distribution LLG 100 00 Ukramne Sundry services
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27 Shares In subsidiary undertakings {continued)

INamel g PNoied [HG1GinG Corperaton NoHBUSIne

Anaptyu 2006-1 Plc United Kingdom  Special purpose fmancing vehucle (SIC 12)

Anaptyx APC Lid - United Kingdom  Special purpose fimancing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaptyx Holdings Ltd - United Kingdem  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaptyw |1 Holdmgs Lid @ s - United Kingdom  Special purpose linancing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaptyx 1} Ple s - United Kimgdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaptyn Cptions Lid @ - United Kingdom  Speciak purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaplyxt SME | Holdings Lid . United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicie (S1C 12)
Anaptyx SME 1 Plc - United Kingdem  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Anaplyx SME 1) 2009 1 Plg - United Kingdom  Special purpese financing vehucle (SIC 12)
Anaptyxs SME |1 APC Ltd - United Kingdem  Special purpase financing vehicls (SIC 12)
Anaptyxi SME |l Hodings Lid United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehiclg (SIC 12)
Ardromeda Leasing | Holdings Ltd @ United Kingdem  Special purpese linancing vehicle (SI1C 12)
Andromeda Laasing | Ple United Kingdom  Special purpose hinancing vehicle (S1C 12)
Daneion 2007 1 Plc United Kingdom  Spectal purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Daneion APC Lid United Kingdom  Spectal purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12}
Daneion Holdings Ltd @ - United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
EFG Hellas Ple 100 00 United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle

Karta 2005-1 Pk - United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Karta APC Lid . Urited Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Karta Holdings Lid @ - United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Karta Il Holdings Ltd o t - United Kingdom  Special purposa financing vehicle (SIC 12}
Karta Il Plc t Urnited Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle {(S1C 12)
Karta LNI ¥ Lid United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Karta Options Ltd 12 United Kingdom  Spetial purpose hinancieg vehicts (SIC 12)
Themelewon H Mortgage Finance Plc United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12}
Themeleion LIl Holdings Lid @ - United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Themeleson lil Mortgage Finance Plc - United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle (SIC 12)
Themelewn IV Holdings Lid @ - United Kingdom  Special purpose fmancing vetucle (SIC 12)
Themelewon IV Morigage Finance Plc - United Kingdom  Special purpose financing vehicle ($1C 12)
Themeleion Mortgage Finance Plc - United Kingdom  Special purpose fimancing velicla (SIC 12)
g funder hquidation not consolidated as of 31 December 2011 due to smmaterialty

2 not consolidated due to smmatenality

(a) EFG Eurobank Ergasias Leasing 5 A, Greece
In June 2011, EFG Eurobank Ergasias Leasing S A merged with Eurobank EFG Fin and Rent S A

(b) Eurobank EFG Asset Management Mutual Fund Mngt Company S A, Greece

In November 2011, Eurcbank EFG Mutual Funds Mngt Company S A merged with Eurabank EFG Asset Management Investmant Firm 8§ A The merged entity was
renamed to Eurobank EFG Asset Management Mutual Fund Mngt Company S A

{c}) Eurobank Properties RE | C , Greece
Dunng the year, the Group increased its participation in Eurobank Properties R £ 1 C from 55 92% lo 55 94%

{d) MO 03 EAD {(previously EFG Securities Bulgaria E A D }, Bulgaria
In June 2011, the name and activity of EFG Secuntes Bulgana E AD were changsd The new name of the entity 1s IMO 03 EA D and 1t provides real estate
servIcas

(2} IMO Central Office E A D and IMO Rila E A D, Bulgaria
In January 2011, the Group established, as 100% subsidiznes, IMO Central Ctice EAD and IMO Rila E A D, real estale services companies incorporated in
Bulgana

N Eurobank EFG Cyprus Ltd, Cyprus
In December 2011, Eurobank EFG Cyprus Ltd merged with Eurocredit Retall Services Ltd

{g) Chamia Enterprises Company Ltd, Cyprus
in November 2011, the Group acquired through its newly acqured subsidiary "Chamia Enterprises Company Ltd”, a minority equity position 3% i MLS Multmedia
S A, a company active in the electronic navigation market

(h)  NEU It Property Holdings Ltd and NEU Itl Property Holdings Ltd, Cyprus
In February 2011, the Group established, as 100% subsidianas, NEU I} Property Holdings Ltd and NEU [l Praperty Heldings Lid, holding companies. incorporatad in
Cyprus

()] Bancpost S A, Romania
Dunng the year, the Group increased its participation in Bancpost S A from 99 02% 10 89 11%

[i}] Efiade Tower S A, Romania
Following the increased participation in Eurobank Properties R E |1 C , the Group increased its pasticipation in Ekade Tower S A from 55 92% to 55 84%

(k) IMO-ll Property Investments § A, Romania
In November 2011, the Group increased its participation in IMO-Il Property Investmants S A from 99 89% o 100%

{n Retail Development S A., Romania
Foltawing the increased paricipation in Eurabank Froperties R E 1 C |, the Group increased its participation in Retail Development 8 A from 55 92% to 55 94%

{m} Seferco DevelopmentS A, Romania
Following the increased participation in Eurgbank Properties R E | G, the Group increased its participation in Seferco Development S A from 55 92% to 55 94%

{n)  Reco Real Property AD , Serbla
Following the increased parhi¢ipatton in Eurcbank Properties R £ | G, the Group increased its participation in Reco Real Property A D from 55 92% 1o 55 94%
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Shares in subsidlary undertakings (continued}

()

()]

(@

n

U]

(u}

)
(w)

(x}

Eurobank Tekfen A S, Turkey

The Group Increased its participation 1n Eurobank Tekfen A § from 99 24% to 99 26% following the corresponding increase of Tekfen Holding's A S percentage In
Eurobank Tekfen A S share capital from 29 249 to 28 26% Tekfen Holding's A S current holding of 29 26% 15 included in the Group's participation, as, under the
shareholders' agreement, it 1s subject 1o put and call aptions whose exercise pnce 1S based on future events

EFG Finansal Kiralama A S, Turkey
Followng the increased participation i Eurgbank Tekfen A S, the Group increased 1ts participation in EFG Finansal Kiralama A S from 99 23% 10 99 26%

EFG Istanbul Equities Menkul Degerler A S, Turkey
Following the increased participation in Eurobank Tekien A S , the Group increased its participation in EFG Istanbul Equities Menkul Degerer A S from 99 24% to
99 26%

EFG Istanbul Portfoy Yonetimi A S, Turkey
In November 2011, the Group established EFG Istanbul Portlioy Yonetimt A S , a mutual fund management company incorporated in Turkey

Anaptyxl Il Hotdings Ltd and Anaptyxi |{ Plc, United Kingdom
In November 2011, the Group established Anaptyx Il Holdings Ltd and Anaptyxi || Ple, special purpose enties, for the issuance of smali business loan asset backed
secuntias

Kanta Il Holdings Ltd and Karta Il Plc, United Kingdom
In August 2011, the Group established Karta i Holdings Ltd and Karta Il Ple, special purpose entities, for the issuance of credit card asset backed secunties

Dias S A, Greece
The Bank merged on 8 February 2011 with Dlas S A, the latter being absorbed by the farmar The share exchange ratio was determined at 5 3 Dias S A shares for
each share of the Bank

Saturn Finance Plc and Saturn Holdings Ltd, United Kingdom
In May 2011, the hquidation of the companies was complated

Themeleion VI Holdings Ltd and Themelelen Vi Mortgage Finance Plc, United Kingdom
In July 2011, the iquidation of the companies was completed

Themeleion V Holdings Ltd and Themeleion V Mortgage Finance Plc, United Kingdom
In August 2011, the iquidation of the companies was completed

Balance s Vi
©On 9 Apnl 2012, the Group entered (nfo a sale agreement for the disposal of Eurobank Tekfen A § and its subsidiaries to Burgan Bank of Kuwart The completion of
the sale Is expected in the autumn of 2012, subject to regulatory approvals by the competent authorities Under the terms of the transachon, Burgan will acquire
99 3% of Eurobank Tekian, from Eurcbank EFG and the Teklen Group, for an upfront cash cansideration of TRY 641 milhon {1x Bock Valus} The transachon will
increase Eurobank EFG's Core Tler | capital ratio by approximately 60 bps (or capital equivalent of almost € 300 million) and will improve its hiquidity position by €
800 rmilkon

Property, plant and equipment

[3flDecemberd20141]
— T U, | Roeldewm oo

Bssets
Cost
Balance at 1 January 424
Transfers 3
Additions 27 -] 19 165 218
Disposals and wnte-offs {29) {17} (33) - 79)
Exchange adjustments (4} (2) {2) {1} (8)
Disposal of foreign operations (40) {25) {15) - (80)
Balance at 31 December 779 264 450 601 2,094
Accumulated depreciatien
Batance at 1 January (194) (194} (393} (26} {807)
Transfers 0 {3) 2 {0} n
Disposals and wnig-ofls 20 15 28 (0) 63
Charge for the year {27} (21) (23) N {78)
Exchange adjustments 2 1 1 ] 4
Disposal of foraign operations 10 9 10 - 29
Balance at 31 December (189) {193) {375) (33) (790)
Net book value at 31 December 590 71 75 563 1,304
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28 Property, plant and equiprnent (continued)

. G Recembe20,L0 i

CIRMHSTREAR, (Cowptieg
otog thardwarey [Dvesiment
Vehiclas) [Software] [bropezyl
Cost
Balance at 1 January 833 300 476 398 2,007
Arsing from acquisition of subsidiaries 0 4] 0 s}
Transters (3) [+ (0) 1 {2)
Additions 29 14 21 39 103
Disposals and wre-ofts (31) (17) (12) {1 (61)
Imparment @ 0} {0 (1) {1)
Exchange adjustments 1)} o 0 (2) {2}
Balance at 31 Oecember 828 2597 485 434 2,044

Accumulated depreciation

Balanca at 1 January (178) {180) {376) 21) {755)
Ansing from acquisition of subsidianes ()] {O [{0)] - ()]
Transfers (V] ()] 1 0 1
Dispesals and wiite-ofis 19 12 11 0 42
Charge for the year {35) (26) (29) (5) (95)
Exchange adpustments o] (0) [(1)] (U] {0)
Balance at 21 December (194) {194) (393) {26) (807)
Net book value at 31 December 534 103 92 408 1,237

Leasehold improvements relate to premises occupied by the Group for its own activities
Included in the abave as at 31 December 2011 s € 3 million {2010 € 9 milhon) relating to assets under canstruction
The net book value of finance leases included in property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2011 was € 16 million {2010 € 18 million)

Investment property

Investment property is camed at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses Depreciation 1s calculated using the straxght ine method over a
periad ot 40 50 years The fair value of investment property as at 31 December 2011 was € 607 million (2010 € 484 millien} The far values are open-market values
provided by professionally quahfied valuers

During the year ended 31 December 2011 an amount of € 26 millan (2010 € 28 millen) was recogrised as rental income from nvestment proparty n inceme from non
banking services As at 31 December 2011 and 2010, there were no capital commitments in relation to Investment property

29 Intanglble assets
' e SORERERREIENG
B T A o = o S -
' intangiblc
essels]
Cost
Balance at 1 January 534 324 858 534 269 803
Ansing from acquisition of subsidianes - - - - o 0
Transfars - 0 0 - {0) [{s)]
Additions - 33 33 . 56 56
Disposals and wnte-offs - (20) {20) - {0} 0
Exchange adustments - (3) (3) - (1) {1
Adjustment ta goodwill (see below) 2 - 2 4] - 4]
Disposal of foreign operations - (34) (34) - - -
Balance at 31 December 536 300 835 534 324 B58
Accumulated impairment/amortisation
Balance at 1 January (1) (123) (124) (1) (92) {93)
Ansing from acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - {0) ()
Transfers - (1) {1) - Q 0
Amortisation charge for the year - (30) (30) - (31) {31)
Disposals and wnte-offs - 6 ] - 0 0
Imparment {see below) (236) - {236) - -
Exchange adjustments - 1 1 . {0) [{+}}
Disposal of foreign operations - 13 13 . - R
Balance at 31 December {237) (134) {371) {1) {123) (124)
Net book value at 31 December 299 166 465 533 201 734

Included in the above as at 31 December 2011 is € mil million (2010 € 2 million) relating to assets under construction
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30

Intangible assets {continued)

Goodwill for 2011 was adjusted for contingent purchase cansideraton and far value adjustments in accordance with the provisions of the acquistion agreements for
Eurobank Teklen A S (€ 23 million increase) As at 31 December 2011, the Group proceeded with the write down of goodwill relating to its operations in Turkey {see
below)

Goodwill for 2010 was adjusted for contingent purchase consideration and fair value adjustments in accordance with the provisions of the acquisition agreements for
Accentis S A, which was absorbed by Eurobank EFG Telesis Finance 8 A that merged with Eurobank EFG Equities S A (€ 1 5 millon decrease) and Eurobank EFG A D
Beograd (€ 1 8 milhon increase)

Impalrment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired In a business coembination 1s altocated, at acquisiyion, to the cash-generatng units {CGUs) that are expected to benefit irom that business combination
and form pan of the Group’s pnmary business segments The carmying amount of goodwill 15 allocated as follows

201 5,0

EEEmillion) [emnilion!
Global and Capital Markets 2 2
Waealth Management 64 &5
Naw Europe (NE) 233 466

Total goodwill 259 533 _

The racoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in-use calculaions The key assumptions for the value-in uss calculations are those regarding the
discount rates, growth rates and cash flow projechons based on financial budgets approved by Management covening a 5-year penod Cash flow projections for years six to
ten have been projected based on operation and market speciic assumptions Cash flows beyond the ten year period (the penod in perpetuity) have been extrapotated
using the estimated growth rates stated below Management estimates discount rates using pre tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the tme value of
maney and the nsks specific to the CGUs The growth rates are based on respective market growth forecasts

) h Managem ngd Gl 1 rki n
The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash fiow projections i1s 15% (2010 15%) The growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the mibal ten-year penod 18 3% and
does not axceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets

A goodwill iImpairment charge amounting to € 1 million was recogmised as at 31 Dacember 2011 against the carrying amount of Global Fund Management S A , reducing
its goodwill to nil, as 1t was no longer supported by the cash flow analysis

) W I aegm

The pre-tax discount rate applied to ¢ash flow prajections for New Europe entties 1s 11% for Bulgana (2010 12%), 13% tor Romania (2010 13%), 13% for Sertua {2010
15%]) and 20% for Ukraine (2010 22%) The growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the inibial ten year period 18 3% and does not exceed the average lang term
grawth rate for the relevant markets

A goodwill impairment charge amounting to € 171 million and € 29 milfion was recogmised as at 31 December 2011 against the carmying amount of Eurobank Tekfen A S
and EFG Istanbul Menkul Degerler A S , respectively, reducing the goodwill of both entities 1o nil The recoverable amount has been determined by reference to the terms
of the sale agreement entered inta in Apnl 2012 for the disposal of the Group's subsidianes in Turkey (nate 27)

The Group has also recognised a goodwill impairment charge as at 31 Decemmber 2011 in relation to Public J S C Universal Bank, Ukraine, amounting to € 35 million,
representing the entire amount o goodwill allocatad to this entity, as a result of reassessing the projections used 10 determing the recoverable amount

The total goodwill impaimment loss has been recogrised as a separate Iine item in the Consolidated Income Statement

Other assets
7613) EE0)
j€fmitlion) ¢ arfllftsre:
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 48 58
Deterred tax asset (note 16} 1,726 503
Repossessed properties 369 272
Recavable from Deposit Guarantee and Invastment Fund 270 188
Income tax recevable 129 96
Settlernent balances with customers 8 12
Investments in associated undertakings (see below) 8 14
Other agsats 422 400
2,981 1,543
The movement In Investments in associated undertakings s as tollows
A - 2010}
[&lmillio [eamillion]
Balance at 1 January 13 44
Additions/{d:sposals} of associated undertakings (5) 2
Conversion of assoctated undertakings to subsidianes - {30)
Dividends collected/{paid) - 3)
Cancellation of own shares/other tems - 1

Share of avalable-for sale revaluation reserve - (0}
Share of resulls for the year {1 (0}
Balznce at 31 December 8 14
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H

a2

a3

Other assets (continued)

The financial information of the Group's associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2011 1s presented below

' . SharefoflNet]
[ab/lities]
[Helding] [c¥millign)| jimilliony
Tefin S A Greece Motor vehicle 50 00
sales hinancing
Sinda Enterpnses Cyprus Specral purpose 48 00 & 0 2 ()
Company Ltd vestment
vehicle
Cardiink S A Greece POS 50 00 4 4 o 0
administration
Unittinance S A Creece Financing 40 00 4 0 2 (1))
company
Fermion Ltd a Cyprus Special purpose 66 67 1 1] 1 {0}
nvestment
vehele
BD Financial Ltd b Brtish Virgin ~ Investment - - - 0
Islands company

20 5 a8 1)

As at 31 December 2011 alt of the Group's associates are unhsted
Tefin § A, Sinda Enterpnses Company Ltd, Cardink S A, Unitinance S A and Femien Lid are the Group's joint ventures

{a) Femion Ltd, Cyprus
In January 2011, the Group acquired 75% of Femian Lid, a spacial purpese (vestment vehicle incorporated in Cyprus [n Apnl 2011, the Group decreased its
participation in the above menticned company from 75% (o 66 67%

(b) BD Financial Limited, British Virgin Islands
in December 2011, the Group dispesed of 49 90% share (n 15 associated undertaking BD Financial Limited The ioss on disposal amounted to € 7 millon

Due to other banks

. [elmiliiony [efmNon!
Gurrent accounts and settlement balances with banks 36 a9

Deposits from other banks 1,007 1,055
1,043 1,144

Secured borrowing from banks

J/million) gchlions

Secured borrowing from central banks 32,525 21,885
Sacured borrowing from other banks 2,363 3,585
34,888 25,480

Due to customers

2041 2010
Jefmilion) £ aiffee

Savings and curent accounts 9,474 13,149
Term deposits and repurchase agreements 21,879 29,787
Uit inked products Lral 655
Other term products 535 844

32,459 44,435

The carrying amount of structured deposits and Liabilities of unit-inked products classified as at fair value through profit or loss at 31 December 2011 was € 638 million
{2010 € 847 million) The fair value change as at 31 December 2011 was € 25 million loss (2010 € 10 millon lass}, which is attnbutable to changes in market conditions

The changes in the fair value of structured deposits and liabilibes of unit-inked products are offsel in the income statement aganst changes in the fair value of structured
denvatives and assets classified as at farr value through profit or loss, respeactively

The diffarence batween the carrying amount and the contractual undiscounted amount that will be required to be pa:d at the matunty of the structured deposits was € 17
million (2010 € 26 million)
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Debt issued and other borrowed funds

[€fmitlion) [eimiligy

Medium-term notes {(EMTN) 1,606 3,181
Subordinated 300 495
Secuntised 765 1,713

2,671 5,389

There 15 an unrecegrised valuation gan of € 446 mullkon (2010 € 916 millton) retated to long term debt of € 2,656 million (2010 € 5,071 milion) camed at amortised cost,
whereas its fair value was € 2,210 million (2010 € 4,155 milion} The remaining long term debt consists of structured notes classified as at fawr value through-profit-or-loss,
the canrying amount of which amauntad to € 15 million as at 31 December 2011 (2010 € 318 millon) The fair value change as at 31 December 2011 amounted to € 40
million gan (2010 € 247 milion gan) The fatr value of the structured notes takes into account the credit nisk of the Group The cumulative change in fair value of these
instruments atinbutable to changes in ¢radit nsk, as at 31 December 2011 was a gan of € 36 million  The respective cumulative change as at 31 December 2010 was

€ 244 milion gain and included an amount of € 205 million gain for the Tier | note, which was repaid in Apnl 2011 (see below) The changes in the far value of the
structured rigtes dus to market nsks other than the Group's credit risk are offset in the iIncome statement against changes in the fair value of structured denvatives

The diffierence betwaen the carying amount and the contractual undiscounted amount that will be required to be paid at the matunty of the structured notes was € 39
mtlhion {2010 € 250 million)

The EMTNSs held by Group’s customers which, as at 31 December 2011 amounted to € 535 milion (2010 € 844 mill:on) were included in *Due to customers”
The Group's funding consists of the secuntisations of vanous classes of loans, notes under Euro Medium Term Nete (EMTN) program, covered bonds and government
guaranteed bonds

Asset Backed Securities

{a) Residential Mortgage Backed Securitles (RMBS)

In June 2004, the Group proceeded with the 1ssuance of residential mortgage backed secunties at an average funding cos! of three month Eunbor plus 19 basis points As
of Dacember 2011, the Group has the option to call the 1ssue at par at each interest payment date (clean up call option) As at 31 Decamnber 2011, the lability amounted to
€ 39 mikhon {2010 € 52 millon)

In June 2005, the Group proceeded with the 1ssuance of residentral mortgage backed secunties at an average funding cost of three manth Eunbor ptus 17 5 basis points
The securities’ intially expected average life was seven years As at 31 Decamber 2011, the Liability amounted to € 88 million (2010 € 105 million)

In June 2008, the Group proceeded with the sssuance of residential mortgage backed secunties at an average funding cost of three month Eunbor plus 16 basis points The
securiiies’ mmally expected average life was seven years As at 31 December 2011, the liability amountad 1o € 162 millon (2010 € 185 milion)

In June 2007, the Group proceeded with the 1ssuance of residential mortgage backed secunties at an average funding cost of three month Eunibor plus 13 basis points The
secuntes' intally expected average life was five years As at 31 Decemnber 2011, the hability amounted to € 476 miltion (2010 € 597 millian)

{b) Credit Card Asset Backed Securities

In August 2011, the Group praceeded with the 1ssuance of credit card asset backed secunties amounting to € 800 million As at 31 December 2011, the securities were
fully retained by the Group

(c) Small Business Loan Asset Backed Securitles

Dunng the year, the Group proceeded with the repayment ol small business loan asset backed secunties amounting to € 774 million as at 31 Decembar 2010, issued by
the Group’s special purpose entity Anaptyxa APC Ltd in October 2006

In November 2011, the Group proceeded with the 1ssuance of small business loan asset backed secunties amounting to € 400 milion As at 31 December 2011, the
secunties were fully ratained by the Group

Lower Tier-ll

In Apnl 2011, the Group proceeded with the repayment of Lower Tier Il unsecured subordinated notes amounting to € 124 million as at 31 December 2010, 1ssued by s
special purpose entty EFG Hellas PLG in 2005

In June 2007, the Group 1ssued € 750 million unsecured subordinated floating rate notes, through its subsidiary EFG Hellas Pic The notes have a ten year maturity with a
call pravision after five years The notes pay floating rata interest quarterly based on a coupon of three manth Eunbor plus 30 basis points for the first five years The notes
quality as Lower Tier |l captal for the Group and are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange As at 31 Decamber 2011 the lability amounted to € 300 million 2010 €
371 mullion}

The notes held by Group's customers, which as at 31 December 2011 amounted 1o € 168 millien are included in "Due to customers™ (2010 € 180 millon)

Post Balance s ven
In February 2012, the Group invited the holders of Lower Tier |l unsecured subordinated notes to tender existing bonds The Group has repurchased notes amounting to

€ 106 millign {principal amount), genarating a gain for the Group and increasing Core Tier | capital by € 53 million
Medium-term notes (EMTN)
Dunng the year, notes amouniing to € 1,438 million, 1ssued under thea EMTN Program through the Group’s special purpose entities, matured

Covered bonds and Government guaranteed bonds

Dunng the year, the Bank 1ssued an additonat amount of € 700 millon of covered bonds and € 5,726 milion of bonds under the second stream of the Greek Economy
Liquidity Support Program {note 4) As at 31 December 2011, the covered bonds and government guararteed bonds, totalling € 4,450 milhon and € 17,776 million
respectively, were fully retained by the Bank and its subsidianes

Financial disclosures requirad by the Act 2620/28 08 2009 of the Bank of Greece in relation to the covered bonds 1ssued, are avarlable at the Bank's website

Post Balance sheet event
In February 2012, govemment guaranteed bonds of € 3,844 milion, matured Upon their matunty, the Bank proceeded with the 1ssuance of government guaranteed bonds
ol eguivalent value {note 4)
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37

Other [iabillties

Insurance habiites

Acquisition obligations

Deterred income and accrued expenses

Standard legal staff retrement indemnity obligations {note 36)
Trading habilities

Deterred tax hability (note 16)

Settlament balances with customers

Other habilities

Standard legal staff retirement indemnity obligations

Movement In the ltability for standard legal statf retirement indemnity cbligations

Balance at 1 January
Arising from acquisiions
Caost for the year (ses below)
Bensfits paid

Exchange adjustments
Disposal of foreign operations
Balance at 31 December

Expense recognised in profit or loss

Current service cost

Interest cost

Termination losses/{gans)

Past service cost

Actuanal losses/{gains)

Total included in statf costs (note 13)

Actuarial assumpticns
Prncipal actuanal assumptions (expressed as weighted averages)

Discount rate
Future salary increases

Ordinary share capital, share premium and treasury shares

1,069 972
154 128
75 119
56 75

18 58

18 16

14 16
469 581
1,873 1,865

5 -]
4 4
8 10
1 4
{9) 9)
9 15
%
57 54
24 32

The par value of the Bank's shares 1s € 2 22 per shara (31 December 2010 € 275) All shares are fully paid The movement of ordinary share capital, share premium and

treasury shares 15 as follows

Share}

Emiitm Jefmillion Jimition)
Balance at 1 January 2010 1,450 (9) 1,441
Anging from acquisitions (see note below) - (2) (2) - {1 {1)
Purchase of treasury shares - n (1) - {0} (0
Sale of treasury shares . 1 § - 0 0
Batance at 31 December 2010 1,481 (3) 1,478 1,450 {10) 1,440
Balance at 1 January 2011 1,481 {3) 1,478 1,450 {10) 1,440
Share capita) increase due to merger with Dias S A 73 . 73 {2) - {2)
Share capial decrease by reducing the ordinary shares'
par value (326) - (326) - - -
Purchase of treasury shares - (4) 4) - 1 1
Sale of treasury shares - 5 5 - 0 0
Balance at 31 December 2011 1,228 (2) 1,226 1,448 (9 1,438

Page 44

31 December 2011 Consohdated Financral Statements




EFG EUROBANK ERGASIAS S A

Notes to the Consolidated Financla! Statements @ Eurobank EFG

37 Ordinary share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)

The foltowing 1 an analysis of the movement in the number of shares 1ssued by the Bank

. “-le Re! gjoilsi‘are 5]

Balance at 1 January 2010 538,594,955 (594,423) 538,000,532
Anising Irom acquisitions (see note below) - (490,000) (480,000)
Purchase of treasury shares - {277,188) (277 186)
Sale of treasury shares - 341,040 341,040
Balance at 31 December 2010 538,594,355 {1,020,569) 537,574,386
Batance at 1 January 2011 538,594,955 {1,020,569) 537,574,386
Share capital increase due to merger with Dias S A 14,353,472 - 14,353,472
Purchase of treasury shares - {1,563,656) (1,563,656}
Sale of treasury shares - 1,775,215 1,775,215
Balance at 31 December 2011 552,048,427 (809,010) 552,139,417

In May 2011, following the registration of the merger between the Bank and Dias § A by the Ministry of Regional Develapment and Competitiveness in the Companies'
Registry, the Bank proceeded with the issuance of 14,353,472 ordinary sharas and the simultaneous modification of the ordinary shares’ nominal value from € 2 75 to
€281

In September 2011, fallowing the decision of the Repeat Annual General Meeting 1n July 2011 and the relavant approval by the Mimistry of Regional Develepment and
Competitveness, the Bank decreased its share capital by the amount of € 326 million by reducing the ordinary shares' par value from € 2 81 to € 2 22, in order to ofiset
transformation losses from previous years' mergers and losses carmed forward

In June 2008, the Annual General Meeting approved the 1ssue, within certain parameters, the terms and timing of which are at the Board of Directors discration, either in
totat or gradually in tranches, of a callable bond of up to € 500 mllion, convertible to ordinary shares of the Bank [note 39, Senes D and E) In July 2011, the repeat Annual
Ganeral Meeting decided the amendment of the terms of the callable bunds approved by the Annual General Meeting In June 2009 for the amount of € 150 million not yet
1ssued/aliotted and the increase of the bonds total amount by up te € 100 milion under ceriain conditions

Treasury shares

Under Law 3756/2009, banks participating in the Government's Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program are not allowed to acquire treasury shares under article 16 of
the Company Law

In the ordinary course of business, subsidianes of the Group may acquire and dispose of treasury shares, the majonty of which refates to ife Insurance actvity
Note During the year the treasury shares ansing from the marger with Dias S A were disposed

3B Preference shares
X BEreferencelsharesy .
345,500,000 950 950
Balance at 31 December 345,500,000 950 950

On 12 January 2009 the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Bank approved the 1ssue of 345,500,000 non-voting, non-listed, non-transfarable, tax dedugtble, non-
cumnulatve 10% preference shares, with nominal value € 2 75 each, under Law 3723/2008 "Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program”, to be fully subscribed to and paid
by the Greek State with bonds of equivalent value The proceeds of the issue total € 940 million, net of expensas, and the transaction was completed on 21 May 2009 In
accordance with the current legal and regulatory framewaork, the issued shares have been classified as Tier | capital

The preference shares pay a non-cumulatve coupon of 10%, subject to meeting minmum capital adequacy requiraments, set by Bank of Greece, avalabiity of
distnbutable reserves in accordance with aricle 4d4a of Gompany Law 2190/1920 and the approval of the Annual General Mesting Accarding to aricle 39 of Law
3844/2010, five years after the 1ssue of the preferance shares or earlier subject 1o the approval of the Bank of Greecs, the Bank may redeam the preference shares at their
nomnal value In case of non redempton at the expiration of the five year penod, the coupon 1S increased by 2% each ysar

In June 2011, the Annual General Mesting approved the distnbution of dividend amounting to € 95 million payable to preference shares for 2010

Based con the 2011 results, the Directors will not recommend to the Sharsholders’ Annual Gereral Meeling the distnbution of a dviderd to either ordinary or preference
shareholders
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39 Preferred securities

On 18 March 2005, the Group, through its Specral Purpose Entity, EFG Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 200 million prelesred secunties which represent Lowar Tier |
capital for the Group (Ter | Senies A} The preferred secunties have no fixed redempten date and give the 1ssuer the nght to call the 1ssue ai par on 18 March 2010 and
annualy thereafter All obligations of the issuer in respect of the prelerred secuntios are guarantesd on a subordinated basis by the Bank The secunties pay fixed non-
cumulative annual dividend of 6 75% for the first two years and non-cumulative annual dividends that are determined based on the ten year Euro swap rate plus a spread
of 0 125% cappaed at 8% thereafter The rate of preferred dvidends for the Tier I Issue senes A has been determined 10 3 54% for the penod March 18, 2011 to March 17,
2012 The preferred drmdend must be declared and paid if the Bank declares a dwidend The preferred secunties are hsted on the Luxembourg and Frankiurt Stock
Exchanges

On 2 November 2005, the Group, through its Special Purpose Entity, EFG Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 400 mithon preferred secunties whuch represent Lower Tier |
capital for the Group (Tier | Series B) The preferred secunties have no fixed redemption date and give the issuer the nght to call the 1ssue at par on 2 Novermnber 2015 and
quarterly thereafter Ali abligations of the 1ssuer in respect of the preferred secunties are guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank The securities pay fixed non-
cumutatve annual dividend of 4 57% for the first ten years and non-cumulative annual dividends that are determined based on the 3menth Eunbor plus a spread of 2 22%
therealter The preferred dnidend must be declared and pad if the Bank declares dindend The preferred secunties are listed on the London Stack Exchange

On 9 Novembar 2005, the Group, through 1ts Spacial Purpose Entity, EFG Hellas Funding Limited 1ssuad € 150 millon prefarred secunties which represent Lower Tier {
capital for the Group (Tier | Series C) The preferred secunties have no fixed redemption date and give the issuer the nght to call the 1ssue at par on 9 January 2011 and
quarterly thereafter All obligations of the issuer in respect of the preterred secunties are guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank The secuntes pay fixed non-
cumulative dividend on a quarterly basis at a rate of 6% per annum The preferred dividend must be declared and pad (f the Bank declares a dividend The preferred
secunties are hsted on the London, Frankiurt and Euronext Amsterdam Stock Exchanges

On 21 December 2005, the Group, through its Special Purpose Entity, EFG Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 50 million preferred secunties which are consclidated and
torm a single senes with the existing € 150 milllan preferred secunties 1ssued on 9 November 2005

On 29 July 2009, the Group, through its Spacial Purpose Enuty, EFG Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 300 million preferred securties which represent Tier | capital for the
Group (Tier | Senes D) This is in accordance with the deciston of the Annual General Meeting on 30 June 2009 which allows the Bank 1o 1ssue i tranches up to € 500
million of such secunies The preferred secunties have no fixed redemption date and give the 1ssuer the nght to call the 1ssue after five years from the 1ssue date and
quarterly thereafter In addiion the secunties, subject to certan condibions, are convertible at the optien of the bondholder and the 1ssuer after Octobar 2014 into Eurgbank
EFG ordinary shares at a 12% discount to the share market pnce dunng the perod preceding the exchange All obligations of the 1ssuer in respact of the preferred
securlies are guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Bank The sacunties pay fixed non-cumulative dividend on a quarterly basis at a rate of 8 25% per annum The
preferred dividend must be declared and paid if the Bank declares a dividend The preferred securities are listed on the London Stock Exchange

On 30 November 2009, the Group, through its Special Purpose Entity, EFG Hellas Funding Limited, 1ssued € 100 million prelemed secunties which represent Tier | capital
for the Group (Tier | Senes E) The terms and conditions of the i1ssue are simitar to preferred secunties 1ssued on 29 July 2009 and the conversien option applies from
February 2015 The preferred securities are listed on the London Stack Exchange

The movement of preferred securities 1ssued by the Group through its Spectal Purpose Entity, EFG Hellas Funding Limited, 15 as follows

i =
N<imiition] [efmilion! Jedmillion) Jedmithop! Jefmillion) [elmillion]
59

Balance at 1 January 2011 97 175 173 287

Purchase of preferred securties (6] (21) 8) (13) - {49)
Sale of preferred securities 0 1 1 1 - 3
Balance at 31 December 2011 90 155 166 275 59 745

As at 31 Dacember 2011, the diwidand attributable to preferred secunties holders amourted {o € 50 milion (2010 € 51 million)
As at 31 December 2011, gain from the redemption of preferred secunties amounted to € 21 million {2010 € nil)

Post Balance sheel gvent

In February 2012, the Group invited the holders of preferred secunties, seres A, B and G to tender existing secunties The Group has repurchased an aggregate principal
amount of € 325 million (Series A € 71 million, Senes B € 147 million, Series C € 107 million} The repurchase of preferred securities has generated a gain for the Group,
increasing its Gore Tier | capital by approximately € 195 milhon

40 Share options

The Group has granted share options to executtve directors, management and employees All opions are equity settled and may be exercised wholly or partly and
converted into shares, at ther owners’ option provided that the vesting requiremnents are met

In Apnl 2006, the Annual General Meeling approved the establishment of an umbrella share options program allowing the Board of Directors (through the Board's
Remuneration Comm:ttes) to 1ssue share options within the next 5 years totalling up to 3% of the Bank's shares within the defined framework ssmilar to the share options
1ssued In the past The umbrella program to 1ssue share options expired within 201t The Repeat Extracrdinary General Shareholders' Mesting on 21 November 2007
amended the terms of the program so that throughout 1ts implementation the vesting and exercise penods of the share opliens may be deterrmined ai the discretion of the
Board following recommendation by the Reamuneration Committee

The moverment in the number ol share options outstanding and their related wetghted average exercise prices are as iollows

Balance at 1 January 1157 5,169,129 1155 5,485,110
Expired and/or cancelled 1175 {675,380) 1120 (315,981)
Belance at 31 December and average exercise price per share 1154 4,493,749 11 57 5,169,129
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40 Share options (continued)

Share options outstanding and exercisable at the end of year have the following expiry dates and exercise pnces

: - . N (BTG E)
Expiry date - 31 December T ey
[Dricelinfe; pricel N
[pegshare] [psthace]
2011 - - 12 00 421,897
2012 12 00 1,289,565 1200 1,343,722
2013 1358 1,268,987 1358 1,337,700
2014 990 1,935,197 990 2,065,810
1154 4,493,749 11 57 5,169,129
a1 Specilal reserves
Balance at 1 January 335 1111 {505) {263) 678
Transfers batween raserves 58 131 - (2) 187
Avalable for sale secunties
- net changes In fair value, net of tax . - {193) (193)
- impairmernt josses on investment securities transter to
net profit, net of tax - - 5 5
- transfer to net proit, net of tax - 43 43
Cash flow hedges
- net changes i farr value, net of tax - - (51) - (51)
- transfer to net profit, net of tax - - {2} {2)
Currency translation difierences, net of hedging - - - 27 27)
Value of employee services - - 4 4
Balance at 31 December 393 1,242 {703} 288 644

Stathto NonEtaxed
resepves) resenves] tesenves]

Balance at 1 January

Transfers between roserves

Share capital decrease (see note 37)
Available for sale secunties

« net changes i fair value, net of tax - - (167} - (167)
impairment losses on Greek sovereign debt transfer to

net profit, net of tax - - 250 - 250
impairment losses on othar investment securities

transfer to net profit, net of tax - - a54 - 354

- transfer to net profit, net of tax - - (13) - (13)

Cash flow hedges

- net changes in farr value, net of tax - - {2} - {2)

- transfer to net profit, net of tax - - (15} - (18)

Currancy translation differences, net of hedging - . - 38 38

Value of employee services - - - {1) (1)

Balance at 31 December 429 1,270 (296) (127) 1,276

Statutory reserves and IAS 39 reserves are not distnbutable Included in 1AS 39 reserves as at 31 December 2011 ts € 102 million loss (2010 € 85 mullion loss) relating to
cash flow hedging raserve

Non-taxed reserves are taxed when distnbuted As at 31 December 2011, non-taxed reserves include an amount of € 246 millon which consists of € 289 millon which
tollowing Law 3513/2006 were sutyect to one-off taxation amounting to € 43 3 milion The Bank has contested the above taxation in the courts

Included i other reserves as at 31 December 2011 1s € 217 million loss (2010 € 255 million Joss) relating te currency transtation reserve, net of hedging

42 Operating leases

Leases as lassee - Non-cancellable operaling lease rentals are payable as tollows

Jedmill:on|

Not later than one year
Later than one year and no later than five years
Later than five years
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43

Operating leases (continued)
There are no matenal future minimum sublease payments to be received under non cancellable subleases

Leases as lessor Non-cancellable operatng lease rentals are receivable as follows

K Dy @G __
) fand] leglipuent
olIdInGs) veticles]

Nat later than one year €5 0
Later than ane year and no later than five years 63 1
Later than five years 16 .
144 1
Contingent liabilities and other commitmenta

201.1]

illjen|
Guarantees and standby letters of credit a02 974
Cther guarantees and commitments to extend cradit 1,337 1,595
Documentary credits 161 165
Capitat expenditure 7 g
2,407 2,743

Included above 1s a guarantee that the Bank 1ssued in favour of EFG Cra Funding Limited 1Ll amounting to € 271 million (2010 € 271 million), aganst which the ulimate
parent company of the Group has guaranteed uncondiionally and without tha nght of cancelfation

Post Balance sheet event
In February 2012, the guarantee 1ssued by the Bank in favour of EFG Ora Funding Limited (1l as well as the guarantee recewved by the ultimate parent company of the

Group, ware reduced ta € 67 million

Legal Proceedings

There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against the Group as at the year end The Group s management and 11 legal adwisars belisve that the outcome of
the ewsting lawsuits will net have a significant impact on the Group's financial statements

Segment information

Management has detenmined the operating segments based on the intemnal reponts reviewed by the Strategic Planning Group (SPG) that are used to allacate resources
and to assess its performance In order to make strategic decisions The SPG considers the business both from a business umit and geographic perspective
Geographically, management considers the performance of its business in Greece and other countries in Europe (New Europe) Greece is further segregated into retail,
wholesale, wealth management, and global and captal markets while New Europe 1s monitored and reviewed on a country basis The Group aggregates segments whan
they exhibit similar economic charactenstics and profile and are expected 1o have simrlar lang-term economic development

With the exception of Greece no other individual country contnbuted mare than 10% of consolidated income The Group 15 erganized in the Iollowing reportable segments
L] Retall incorporating customer cumrent accounts, savings, deposits and investment savings products, credit and debit cards, consumer loans, small business

banking and morigages

. Comorate incarporating direct debit facilies, current accounts, deposits, overdralts, loan and other credit facilities, toreign currency and denvative products to
corporate entities

L] Wealth Management incorporating private banking services, including total wealth management, to medium and high net worth individuals, insurance, mutual
fund and investment savings products, and institutional asset managemant

. Global and Capial Markets incorporaling investment banking services including corporate finance, merger and acquisitions advice, custody, equity brokerage,
financial instruments trading and instiutional finance 1o corporate and nsktutional entities, as well as, specialised financial advice and intermediation to pnvate
and large retail ndividuals as well as small and large corporate entities

L] New Eurape - incorporating operations in Ramania, Bulgana, Serbia, Cyprus, the Ukraing and Turkey
Other operations of the Group comprise mainly ol mvesting actties, including property management and investment and the management of unallacated capital

The Group's management reporting Is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) The accounting policies of the Group's operating segments are the
sama with those dascnbed In the principal accounting policies

Revenues from transactions between business segments are allocated on a mutually agread basis at rates that approximate market pnces
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Segment information {continued)

Operating segments

Mgt interest mncome

Net commission income
Other net revenue

Total external ravenue
Inter segment revenue
Total revenue
Cperating expenses

Impairment losses on
loans and advances

Continuing operations
before ona-oifs (see note)
One offs

Discontinued operations
Nan controlling interest

Profit betore tax
atinbutable to
shareholders

Excl ong-offs

Segment assets

Net intarast income

Nst commission income
Cther net revenue

Total external revenue
Inter segment revenue
Total revenue

Operating expenses
Impairment losses on
loans and advances
Continuing operations
Discontinuad operations
Non controlhing interest

Profit befora tax
attributable to
shareholders

Segment assets

[Wealth]
i

1,066 546 12 (78} (59) 552 . 2,039
38 62 38 27 0 129 . 292
10 (12) 36 12 m 26 - (5)

1,112 596 86 (38) (136) 707 . 2,326
9 {) (3% {40} 23 2) {43) .

1,208 595 53 79) (113) 705 {43) 2,326

{458} (110} (66) {60) (85) (a62) a3 {1,198)
(943) (146) (2) 0 m (242) - {1,333)
(193) 339 (15) (39) {198) 1 - {205)
m (162) (228) (5,364) (994) . - {6,749)

. ) - 173 - - 173

- . 0 . (13) (1) - (149)
(194) 177 (243) {5,503) {1,032) ) - (6,795)
{183) 318 {15) {139) (38) ) . {46)
22,598 16,137 2,019 16,498 3,697 15,873 - 76,622

Elimpationt

[NewlElone] Cepien

Jediniliionl Jeimillion
1,001 489 4 16 (56) 579 - 2,103
59 61 43 61 2 132 - 363
27 (20) 45 70 99 43 - 264
1,177 510 97 147 45 754 - 2,730

104 2 (32) (44) 17 (3} (44)

1,281 512 85 103 62 751 (44) 2730
(507 (113) (69) (77 (78) {4B0) 44 {1.280)
{909) (93) (1) 0) {0) {270} - {1,273}
(135) 306 5 26 (16) 1 . 177

- - . - (41) - (41)

- - 0 - (18) {1} - (19}
{135) 306 (5) 26 (75) 0 - 117
24,184 18,122 2,101 15,324 5,158 22,299 - 87,188

Note One off items includa imparment losses from PSl+ and other non re¢urnng valuation losses
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46

Segment information (continued)
Entity wide disclosures
(a) Analysis of revenue by category

Breakdown of the Group's revenue for each group of similar products and services I1s as follows

Lending related activities

Deposits, network and assel management activities
Capital markets

Insurance related actvitios

Non barking and other services

The followang table breaks down the Group s total revenues and total assets based on the country in which the Group's operation 15 located

Greece 1,623 60,949 1,976 64,889
Romana 243 4,541 305 5,355
Bulgana 172 3,445 17 3,611
Other countnes 288 7,887 278 7,640
Total from continuing operations 2,326 76,822 2,730 81,495
Total from discantinued cperations 47 - 194 5,693
Total 2,373 76,822 2,924 87,188

Post balance sheet avents
Merger with Alpha Bank S A

The merger of Eurobank with Alpha Bank, as announced in August 2011, was approved with an overwhelming majenty by both sharehglders’ mestings on 15 November
2011 On 23 January 2012, the last regulatory approval was obtamed Ever since all substantive and formal prerequisites have been fullilled and only the execution of the
legally required notary deed s pending Instead, Alpha Bank on 3 Apnl 2012, tollowing several announcements, has czlled for a sharsholders’ meeting for 26 Apnl 2012
with an agenda item to abart the merger procedure Eurobank has presented with clanty its posiion and has reserved its lsgal nghts

Details of other significant post balance sheset events are also provided in the following notes

Note 4-Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program
Note 7 3-Capital management

Note 15-Income tax

Mote 27-Shares in subsidiary undentakings

Note 34-Debt ssued and other borrowed funds

Note 39-Preferred secunties

Note 43-Contingent liabilities and other commitments

Related party transactions

The Bank 1s a member of the worldwide EFG Group, which consists of credit institutions, financial services and financial holding comparues The operating parent company
of the EFG Group 1s European Financial Group EFG (Luxembourg) S A, whilst ts ulbmate parent company s Prvate Financial Holdings Limited (PFH), which 1s owned
and controlled indirectly by members of the Latsis family As at 31 December 2011, the EFG Group held 44 7% of the ordinary shares and voting rights of the Bark through
wholly owned subsidianes of the ultimate parent company, the remaining ordinary shares and voting nghts being held by institutional and retail investors, none of which, to
the knowledge of the Bark, holds 5% or more

The Bank's annual consolidated fimancial statements are fully consclidated in the annual consolidated financial statements of European Financial Group EFG
{Luxermnbourg) S A

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business and are conducted on an am's length basis These include loans,
deposits and guarantess In addition, as part of its normal course of business m investment banking activities, the Group at imes may hold posiions in debt and squity
instruments of related parhes The volume of related party transactions and outstanding balances at the year-end are as follows
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46 Related party transactions (continued)

. 3 ) - )
[EEG] . C Hre - GEREEENERD

| (GIoUD) [personnes

g semillion] - N BEERECerilicne (% e,
Loans and advances to banks 4} - - 2 -
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 0 - - - - -
Denvative financial instruments assets . - 1 - - -
Investment secunties 82 - 7 82 - 10
Loans and advances to customers (see below) 1 15 335 64 19 121
Other assets - 0 0 1 ¢] [v]
Dus to banks 54 - - 55 - -
Due to customers {ses below) 4 42 345 1 53 239
Other habilities 0 1 0 4 1 0
Net interest income H ()] {2y 1 (1) Q
Net banking fee and commission tncome 1] - 1] (4) - 2
Other operating iIncome/{expense) {5) {0) {0} 1 o (2)
Guarantees 1ssued (note 43) 272 - 2 2n 1 1
Guarantees received {note 43} 2n 0 50 27 Q 56

Note As at 31 December 2011, loans and advances to customers are covered by cash collateral amounting to € 211 million (2010 € ril)

Key management compensation {including directors}
Key management personnel includes directors and key management personnel of the Group and is parent, and their close family members
No provisions have been racognised in raspect of loans given to related parties (2010 € rul)

Key management personnel are entitled to compensation in the form of short term employee benefits of € 7 3 million {2010 € 7 5 million), and long term employee benefis
of € 1 8 milkon out of which € 1 3 million are share-based payments {2010 € 2 6 millign and € 2 1 millon respectively)

47 Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Bank, as folfows, were appointed by the Bank's Annual General Meeting of 25 June 2010

E N Chnstodoulou Chairman {non sxecutive)

G C Gondicas Honorary Chairman (non executive)

A ML J Latsis Vice Chairman (non executive)

N C Nanopoulos Chief Executive Officer

B N Balls Deputy Chief Executive Cfficer

M H Colakides Deputy Chief Executive Cfficer

N V Karamouzis Deputy Chief Executive Officer

N K Pavhdis Executiver

F S Antonatos Non Executive

E L Busseti Non Executive

S J Latsis Non Exscutive

P P Petalas Non Exscutive

D A Georgoutsos Non Exacutive (appointed under Law 3723/2008)

S L Lorentziadis Independent Non Executive

A J Martinos Indepandent Non Executive (registered as indepandent on 10 January 2011}
O T Papalexopoulos Independent Non Executive (ragistered as independent on 10 January 2011)
P V Tndimas Independent Non Exetutive

The threa year term of the Board of Directors expires at the Annual General Meeting which will take place in 2013

48 Dividends

Final dividends are not accounted for until they have been ratified by the Annual General Meeting In June 2011, the Annual General Meeting approved the distribution of
dividend amounting to € 85 mill:on payable to preference shares for 2010 {note 38)

Under Law 3756/2009, as amended by Laws 3844/2010, 3965/2011 and 4063/2012, banks participating in the Greek Economy Liquidity Support Program are not allowed
to declare a cash dividend to their ordinary shareholders for 2008 to date Based on the 2011 results, the Directors will not recommend to the Shareholders Annual General
Meeting the distnbution of a dividend to either ardinary or preference sharehalders

Athens, 20 April 2012

Efthymios N Christodoulou Nicholas C Nanopoulos Paula N Hadjlsotiriou Harrla V Kokologiannis
1D No AB 046358 1D No AE - 586734 1D No AK - 221300 1D No AK 021124
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER HEAD OF GROUP FINANCE & CONTROL
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